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Message from

ska’s President
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic made 2020 an unusual
and challenging year for Singapore Khalsa Association (SKA).
Like the rest of Singapore and much of the world, SKA faced the
consequences of the pandemic and the various restrictive measures
put in place by the government to combat the outbreak in Singapore.
We had to deal with many obstacles and challenges.
The Management Committee (MC) responded in a positive and
determined way to the circumstances presented to us and which
were very much fluid and uncertain throughout the course of the
year. We innovated where needed, making the best of connecting
digitally. We also worked well within the restrictions and continued
with the organisation of various activities and programmes across
the different committees. At the same time, we ensured that SKA
continued to operate during the various phases of Singapore’s
COVID-19 measures.
I am delighted to say that our perseverance and hard work paid
off. In view of the challenges posed by the COVID-19 outbreak, the
Association performed admirably in 2020.

AANew
NewTeam
TeamininPlace
Place
The 74th Annual General Meeting (AGM) and election of the MC took
place in November 2020. It was an acid test for my team which
took office following a hard-fought victory in the election two years
earlier.
In view of the COVID-19 restrictions, the AGM had to be held
online. My MC and I were understandably disappointed. We were
committed and had worked hard during the two years we were in
office. This AGM was an opportunity for us to share our efforts
with the members as well as engage them on future plans for the
Association. In this spirit, however, we put together a digital AGM
for the members to engage the MC and raise questions. On this
count, the members told us that they appreciated the opportunity
for them to share their perspectives and views in the interest of the
Association.
The election witnessed close to 500 members turning up at SKA
to vote for the MC for 2020-22. This large turnout showed the
members’ interest in SKA’s affairs and progress. This augurs well for
the future of the Association.
At the close of nominations, my team put forward the full
complement of 19 candidates while the other team contested 10
positions. I am encouraged by and appreciative of the resounding
endorsement of my team’s performance over the earlier term, our
management of the affairs of the Association as well as our plans
for the future. We won all 19 posts in the MC with a significant vote
share during the election.
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One of the most important, if not most critical, endorsements of the
members was young Sikhs joining the MC and taking on significant
roles at the Association. Succession planning was an important
message in this respect during the election. I mentioned during the
AGM that I always believe in cultivating young Sikhs for them to
serve effectively in the Sikh community and larger society. I hold
strong to this belief, and when younger Sikhs come forward to serve,
they must be given the opportunities to contribute.
Now, a new team is in place at the Association. The younger MC
members are enthusiastic, enterprising and have been working well
with the established members. Their first challenge is working in
a COVID-19 and post COVID-19 environment. They have responded
well to the emerging new normal context and situation. I have full
confidence that the new team will continue the good work of the
preceding MC and take the Association to even greater heights!

Innovative Engagement
Engagement Strategies
Innovative
Strategiesand
andPlatforms
Platforms
As a member-centric organisation, SKA must always ensure that
it provides the best possible service to its members as well as
organise regular activities and programmes for them. We started
2020 on a bright note, organising and supporting close to a dozen
events in the first two months of the year. In essence, we continued
from where we left off in 2019. We started the dhol, taekwondo
and Bollywood dance classes, and organised the annual Lohri
celebrations. Several events such as the Golden-Ager event for
the senior members and the cupcake class were organised for the
first time. The overwhelming response to and positive feedback on
these events reiterate the need for SKA to continue to explore novel
activities and programmes for its members.
The outbreak of COVID-19 in Singapore in January 2020 and the
measures implemented subsequently certainly tested our resolve
and ability. Regrettably, we had to cancel or postpone several key
events such as the Vesakhi Mela and the Ladies Wing’s Family Day
and Mother Day’s celebrations as well as to suspend a number of
activities such as the dhol and taekwondo classes, and the sporting
activities. These were difficult but necessary decisions, given the
circumstances.
However, my MC and I responded well to the Circuit Breaker and the
restrictions thereafter. We quickly moved to the online space and
leveraged social media to reach out to and engage our members.
Regular updates were provided via SKA’s Facebook and Instagram
accounts. At the same time, we organised a virtual cultural show
as well as online Vesakhi and Mother Day’s greetings, and Teeyan,
Chair Yoga and panjiri making presentations. We also hosted a
virtual football tournament and DiwaLive, a cultural bonanza to mark
Diwali. These enabled us to present a number of interesting and
entertaining events digitally and connect with the members.
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When the situation permitted, we did not rest on our laurels. We
took the opportunity to organise in-person activities. These included
the arts weekend with Afsana Arts, a couple of skills-related
programmes and an art and craft session for the family.
The COVID-19 outbreak also provided the opportunity for the
Association to do its part for the community. We started a fundraising
initiative to raise money for the Langar Outreach Programmes of the
gurdwaras and the ration distribution efforts of SGSewa, a groundup initiative of the Sikh community. I am pleased to share that we
managed to raise more than $12,000 in a short span of time. The
money was disbursed to Central Sikh Temple, Khalsa Dharmak
Sabha and SGSewa.
We continued with our efforts of reaching out to like-minded
organisations in the course of 2020. In fact, the pandemic made
it critical for such joint efforts so that we were able to reach out
a larger group of people. Our partners included the Young Sikh
Association (Singapore) [YSA], SGSewa, Sikh Welfare Council
(SIWEC), Afsana SG, RedDot Bhangra, Sikh Sewaks Singapore,
Mental ACT, Singapore Sikh Professional Network (SSPN) and the
Singapore Indian Fine Arts Society (SIFAS).

New Community
Community Initiative
AANew
Initiative
SKA has always adapted to the evolving changes in society and
initiating programmes to address the needs of the times. Over
the last nine decades, we have launched a number of important
initiatives to cater to the different needs of the community. We
began with sports. Over time, we included a cultural element to
our activities. Subsequently, we started the Ladies Wing, Khalsa
Kindergarten and Young Khalsa.
The outbreak of COVID-19 gave us the impetus to look at health
and medical-related issues in the community. In addition to socioeconomic challenges, the pandemic has resulted in medical and
health-related difficulties for Singaporeans across different groups.
As such, we felt that community efforts were needed to complement
the government’s efforts to reach out to those in need. We launched
SEWA Healthcare in December 2020. It is an important and relevant
initiative in the current landscape in Singapore. As in the case of all
our previous initiatives, we strongly believe that SEWA Healthcare
will grow from strength to strength and become an important and
integral part of SKA’s list of offerings to its members and the larger
community.

Infrastructural Development
Infrastructural
Developmentfor
forthe
theFuture
Future
In our effort to ensure that the Association continues to remain a
premier institution as well as to guarantee regular revenue streams
for its long-term viability, we identified several infrastructural
projects in 2020.
In 2019, we had promised the members that we would undertake
rectification and additional renovation works at the Association
as well as relocate the lounge to the first floor. The COVID-19
outbreak in early 2020 hampered the progress. However, we
persisted on both fronts. I am pleased to state that we are at the
tail end of the rectification and additional works at the Association.
At the same time, we have almost completed the renovations at
the administrative office, the foyer and the boardroom. Members
visiting the Association would have been pleased with the look and
feel of the premises. The lounge on Level 1 is also expected to be
operational in the last quarter of 2021.

Following the approval of the members at the AGM in 2020 to
relocate Khalsa Kindergarten to SKA, the project team has been
hard at work putting the plans in place. It has sought and received
the necessary approvals for the move. The next step is to call for a
tender for the renovation works. We hope to have the kindergarten
functioning at the Association in early 2022.
At the same time, we are examining ways to better utilise the
function hall and the rooms on the fourth floor. We believe that
this space offers the opportunity for the Association to increase its
revenue options through long-term tenancy engagements.

PrudentFinancial
Financial Management
Prudent
Management
The COVID-19 outbreak significantly affected SKA’s revenue
streams. The Circuit Breaker forced the closure of the Association
and its services. All its tenants also had to suspend their operations.
The subsequent lifting of several measures provided only a modicum
of relief to the Association and its tenants.
While the government provided some relief assistance to the
tenants, SKA, as a landlord, was subject to mandatory rental waiver
imposed by government regulation. Beyond these measures, the
Association provided a further waiver of between 25 percent and 50
percent to all tenants from August 2020 till December 2020 as well
as a deferred payment rental scheme to ease their cash flow worries
during the difficult times.
As our revenue sources were severely impacted, we also took
measures to reduce expenditure. Many events and activities
were curtailed and/or taken online to reduce the physical cost of
organising them. Administrative costs were also reduced during this
period. At the same time, we made alternative arrangements on
services provided by our vendors such as the cleaning and security
companies. Collectively, these concerted measures ensured that the
Association ended the year in a reasonable financial position which
was within the MC’s expectations, given the difficult year.

ThePath
Path Forward
Forward
The
The past year posed many challenges for the Association and the
COVID-19 pandemic tested the MC, to say the least. The MC took on
these challenges together, and as a team, adapted well. We were
able to continue with the responsibility of managing the affairs of
the Association.
Moving forward, we hope to see some light at the end of the tunnel
soon. Singapore’s ability to manage the COVID-19 situation well and
the ongoing national vaccination programme offer hope for some
degree of normalcy retuning to Singapore soon. However, we must
be prepared for a new normal – one in which the MC will need to
find new and inventive ways of engaging the members and providing
originative platforms for the members’ benefit and enjoyment.
I strongly believe that the new team which took over the helm at the
Association towards the end of 2020 is well equipped and has the
passion and commitment to serve the Association and the members.
My MC and I will ensure that SKA continues to remain a lively,
vibrant and member-centric association.
We thank you and look forward to your continued support!
Hernaikh Singh
President
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SKA’S

Year in Review

(January – December 2020)

The true test for an organisation’s resilience comes when it is
confronted by a crisis. An added dimension to this is that it becomes
stronger when it manages and learns through navigating a crisis.
Like many other organisations, SKA was not spared the significant
disruptions brought upon by the outbreak of COVID-19. The
Coronavirus pandemic, now considered the crisis of our generation,
presented SKA with many challenges in 2020. However, it also
provided the Association with opportunities to relook, rethink,
redefine and, in some ways, even refresh the organisation. More
importantly, through this crisis, the MC explored innovative ways
to remain relevant and continue to engage SKA’s members and
community stakeholders in the new normal.

January to
to March 2020
January
The Association began 2020 with the same level of enthusiasm
as the year preceding it. We put in place plans for many exciting
and interesting activities for the members. The first major event
in the New Year witnessed more than 500 members and guests in
attendance. The vibrant and joyous Lohri celebrations at SKA on 11
January 2020, a staple on the SKA Ladies Wing’s calendar, provided
no indication that the remaining events for the year would soon take
a very different turn.
During the first quarter of the year, we continued with the dhol,
taekwondo and Bollywood dance classes. In addition to organising a
veterans’ hockey tournament, we staged the inaugural Golden-Ager
event for the senior members. For pastry lovers, we held a cupcake
class at the Association.
However, when the COVID-19 cases in Singapore began to rise
in February and March 2020, the government decided to put in
place restrictions to control its spread. Given the COVID-19 safe
management measures that were enforced throughout much of the
remainder of the year, significant decisions had to be made by the
Association on several fronts.
The MC quickly convened to discuss and consider which events
would need to be rescheduled or completely cancelled for the year.
We decided to make the difficult decision of cancelling the cultural
night and the Bhangra beginner course in February 2020, the football
and hockey tournaments in February and March 2020, and the Ladies
Wing’s Family Day and the vocal classes in March 2020.
Beyond rescheduling and cancelling several activities, it was also
imperative for the Association to ensure that its critical functions
and services were provided with the resources to pivot and
resume their work. One such area was Khalsa Kindergarten which
needed to ensure minimal disruption in the teaching curriculum
for the students. The kindergarten’s leadership and teaching staff
rose to the challenge and deftly adapted to working online. This
included equipping themselves with greater skills by attending
relevant online workshops and participating in development and
SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION
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refresher courses in areas such as Mentoring, First Aid and in
the Early Childhood Development Association’s (ECDA) Diploma
in Leadership. The flexibility, resolve and positive attitude of the
kindergarten’s community was one source of inspiration for others
at SKA to explore ways to overcome the challenges brought about
by COVID-19 for the rest of 2020.

April to June 2020
April
The Singapore government announced an eight-week Circuit
Breaker in early April 2020. Several of the most restrictive safedistancing measures were enforced during this period to limit
social interactions and curb the further spread of COVID-19 in the
community. This also entailed the shutting down of non-essential
services and schools. It was during this period that the spirit of
enterprise and innovation at SKA truly shone through.
While the MC had to make the difficult decision of cancelling
the much-awaited Vesakhi Mela, and the Vesakhi golf and pool
tournaments, the Association quickly adapted to this unprecedented
situation by capitalising on social media and other online platforms
to reach out to the members and the wider community. This first
started with the Ladies Wing’s online appreciation montage for
mothers on Mother’s Day in place of the annual Mother’s Day tea
reception at the Association. This was closely followed by a live
cultural show on SKA’s Facebook page, a first for the Association.
Spearheaded by the Cultural and Social Committee, the diverse
and rich talent in the community was on full display during the
entertaining and exciting virtual cultural show which attracted more
than 320 people from all over Singapore as well as from overseas.
One positive feedback deeply resonated with the SKA team and its
motivations for organising the virtual cultural show – it brought the
community together and lifted the spirits, and this was especially
important at a time where some were feeling a sense of despair and
hopelessness. We also made the effort to lift the spirits further by
sending Punjabi board games and Punjabi scavenger hunt packages
to the members so that the family could play these games together
during the Circuit Breaker. We also sent Vesakhi greeting packs and
invited members and guests to offer online Vesakhi greetings to the
Sikh community.
At Khalsa Kindergarten, while outdoor activities for the students
such as swimming were halted, alternative enrichment classes
were quickly developed to allow meaningful interaction and handson activities for the children with their families. Efforts were also
put in place to continue the kindergarten’s programmes such as the
parent-teacher meetings, annual graduation day later in the year
and the students’ registrations for 2021 to online modes. Khalsa
Kindergarten recognised and seized the opportunity during this
time to establish and strengthen e-collaboration with the parents.
This paved the way for the remainder of the year where critical
matters such as the children’s homework, advisories from ECDA and
checking on the overall well-being of the students continued to be
discussed through online or hybrid modes where possible.
The Association also turned its attention to community outreach
programmes during the Circuit Breaker. We decided to raise funds
for the Langar Outreach Programmes of Central Sikh Temple and
Khalsa Dharmak Sabha and the ration distribution programme by
SGSewa. We also played host to SGSewa’s initiative which reached
out to more than 4,000 persons affected by the pandemic. At the
same time, we supported the initiatives of various organisations
during this period. These included the premiere of ‘The Saint
Solider’, wellness and health-related sessions, quizzes and the
‘What’s Brewing’ Learning Festival.
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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July to
to September
September 2020
July
A significant and landmark decision with regard to the future of
services provided by SKA was made in the midst of a pandemic.
The MC took a view to the future when, in August 2020, it approved
the relocation of Khalsa Kindergarten to SKA. A project team was
tasked to lead this project and it included members of the Education,
and Building and Facilities Committees, and volunteers with relevant
expertise at the different stages of the project. This course of action
reflected the commitment of the MC to make decisions in the best
interest of community stakeholders. This approach also received the
wide support of the members who have since come forward to lend
their expertise and skills for this project.
The COVID-19 restrictions meant that the Association could not
organise in-person activities. We continued to reach out to the
members via the online route. We put together a Teeyan video
presentation in August 2020 and a Chair Yoga presentation in
September 2020. We also supported the MISL Youth Network’s
activities.

October to
to December
December 2020
October
The highlight in the last quarter of the year was the organisation of
the AGM and the MC election. The COVID-19 restrictions resulted in
the Association first delaying its AGM by four months and then having
to hold it digitally. Like the members, the MC was disappointed by
this decision as it would have welcomed the opportunity to share
the good work it had done over the course of the year with the
members. It was, however, fortunate to be able to hold an in-person
MC election. Close to 500 members turned up for the election, which
pitted the incumbent president, Mr Hernaikh Singh, and his team
against Mr Sukhbir Singh and his team. After achieving victory in
nine positions prior to the election due to walkovers, Mr Hernaikh
and his team won the remaining 10 positions during the election.
The margin of victory reflected the members’ strong endorsement
of the good work done by the incumbent MC, the effort to bring
young Sikhs on board the MC as well as the plans proposed for the
betterment of the Association.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has been disproportionate
for various groups. For children, SKA’s Young Khalsa continued to
engage them even as the year came to an end, such as through
the Afsana Arts weekend with a suite of workshops on creative
crochet, bookbinding and Gurmukhi calligraphy. This served not only
as an outlet for the participating children but also enabled them to
creatively express themselves and be engaged meaningfully and
purposefully. Young Khalsa also organised a family arts and craft
session. Parents and children welcomed the opportunity to get out
of the house and they enthusiastically participated in the event.
For the sportspersons, the Association organised a virtual football
tournament. At the same time, we arranged for a skills workshop
for undergraduates and a seminar on skills for the future for young
professionals.
SKA’s Ladies Wing was part of the working group for the exhibition
on ‘The Sikhs in Singapore: A Story Untold’ at the Indian Heritage
Centre (IHC), along with other community organisations and
partners. It worked closely with the IHC to curate exhibits, including
creating audio and visual contents of members in the Ladies Wing
singing Punjabi folk songs. It was in no small way the efforts of
the Ladies Wing that the exhibition reflects the significant roles
and contributions by Sikh women in Singapore to the community.
Towards the end of the year, the Ladies Wing presented a video
on panjiri making, an important but fast fading skill in the Sikh
community.
SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION
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Similarly, the Cultural and Social Committee, which was perhaps
the hardest hit by the COVID-19 restrictions due to the suspension
of all live performances and music, took to social media to organise
DiwaLive in November 2020 to mark Diwali. It also took the lead
in SKA’s participation in the ‘Raise Your Lights’ initiative of the
Singapore Indian Fine Arts Society in celebration of Diwali.
Realising the impact of COVID-19 on the community and on the need
to look after the welfare of the vulnerable groups, SKA launched
SEWA Healthcare in December 2020. This ground-up initiative
provides education, counselling and support to people with chronic
and terminal illnesses as well as their families and the community
in order to empower them to lead quality, healthy and productive
lives. SEWA Healthcare has a team of 50 dedicated volunteers and
it expects the number to grow exponentially in the near future.
Notwithstanding the occurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic and its
concomitant challenges on construction works, the Building and
Facilities Committee successfully commenced major upgrading
and repair works at the Association. Chief amongst these works
was the repair and additional renovation project that began
when the membership voted in 2019 to authorise the MC to
undertake significant rectification and renovation works. The MC
appointed Singapore Paints and Contractor Pte Ltd to carry out this
transformative undertaking which encompassed repairing of water
seepages, rendering of cracks and de-bonded areas, replacement of
corroded fixtures and fittings, cladding rectification and corrective
repairs.
The works were professionally managed by the Association’s
appointed project management firm, Bruce James Building
Surveyors, and were supervised by members of the Building
Monitoring Team. Visually, the members will immediately notice
the Association’s new look and feel in the form of a brand new
colour scheme, a newly erected perimeter fence, an elevated
and illuminated signboard and an upgraded jackpot room. In line
with SKA’s evolution towards a more member-centric and friendly
environment, in 2021, the members will be greeted to a revamped
and upgraded foyer area, a new administration and security office,
along with a reception area. As part of its continuous endeavour
to expand its range of offerings to our members, the MC will also
renovate the boardroom with highly customised system furniture
and audio and visual equipment to reposition SKA as a prime venue
for corporate meetings and conferences.
The outbreak of COVID-19 at the start of the year had an adverse
impact on Singapore as in the case with the rest of the world.
We at SKA were also not spared. However, the new MC took
the Coronavirus pandemic in its stride. Undeterred, it adapted
to the circumstances. It continued with the serious business of
managing the day-to-day operations of the Association as well as
the renovation project. Equally importantly, it remained committed
to engaging the members via direct mailers and making the most
of connecting digitally. We actively used social media platforms,
as evident by the number of activities and programmes organised
despite the COVID-19 restrictions.
With the newly-developed vaccines and Singapore managing the
COVID-19 situation well, we can expect to return to some form of
normalcy in 2021. We certainly look forward to that. We want to
welcome the members back to the Association and to put together
the many planned programmes and activities for the members. We
want to continue with our mission of the continued transformation
of the Association.
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SKA’S

pATRON AND
TRUSTEES
Patron

Mr Kartar Singh Thakral
Patron
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tRUSTEES

Mr Gurdip Singh Usma
Chairperson

Colonel (Retired)
Gurcharan Singh Sekhon
Vice Chairperson

Mr Ajit Singh
Secretary/Treasurer

Mr Sowaran Singh
Member

Mr Mejar Singh Gill
Member

Mr Inderjit Singh
Member
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SKA’S

MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

Mr Hernaikh Singh
President

Mr Sarjit Singh s/o
Udam Singh
Vice President

Mr Sarabjeet Singh
Vice President

Mr Prem Singh
General Secretary

Mr Gurpreet Singh Rikhraj
Assistant Secretary,
Administration and Security

Mr Surindar Singh
Assistant Secretary,
Membership

Ms Ezrynn Kaur Charl
General Treasurer

Mr Baldev Singh
s/o Avatar Singh
Assistant General Treasurer

Mr Tarlok Singh
Chairperson, Sports
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SKA’s Management Committee

Mr Gursewak Singh Gill
Chairperson, Cultural
and Social

Mr Kuldip Singh Sandhu
Chairperson, Education

Ms Kiran Kaur Gill
Chairperson, Media and
Communications

Mr Satinder Pal Singh
Chairperson, Building and
Facilities

Mr Tejinderdeb Singh Gill
Chairperson, House

Ms Harveen Kaur
Chairperson, Young Khalsa

Ms Harbinder Kaur
Chairperson, Ladies Wing

Mr Sukvinder Singh Sandhu
Chairperson, Veterans Wing

Ms Harvender Kaur
Committee Member

Mr Jaswant Singh
Committee Member

Mr Sarjeet Singh Sohal
Committee Member
(Co-opted)

The MC would like to express its gratitude to the following members who stepped
down following the end of the last MC’s term in November 2020:*
Mr Malvinder S Bandal
Vice President

Ms Jaswant Kaur
Chairperson, Cultural and Social

Mr Pardeep Singh Khosa
General Secretary (Till 21 September 2020)

Mr Amritpal Singh Sidhu
Chairperson, Young Khalsa

Mr Harminderjit Singh Sangha
Assistant Secretary, Administration and Security

Mr Sarjit Singh
Committee Member

Mr Inderjit Singh Khosa
General Treasurer (Till 21 September 2020)

Mr Alvinder Singh Riar
Committee Member

Mr Gurvinder Sidhu
Chairperson, Sports

Professor Berinderjeet Kaur
Chairperson, Ladies Wing (Co-opted)
* Unless otherwise stated
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SKA’S

Administration
Staff

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Manager

Ms Tsasikala
Senior Executive
(Administration)

Ms Sukhwender Kaur
Executive (Finance)

Ms Ranjit Kaur
Jackpot Executive

Mr De Souza Ronald Michael
Jackpot Executive

Ms V Gayadri
Executive (Membership)
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SKA’S

Khalsa
Kindergarten Staff

Mdm Santi Devi
Principal

Ms Karamdeep Kaur
Senior Teacher

Ms Nithya Sundari Chandra Sekaran
Senior Teacher

Ms Kshama Pathak
Teacher

Ms Kohilavani d/o Shanmugam
Administrative Staff/Teacher

Ms Punitha Sukumaran
Teacher

Ms Nur Faezah Binte Rahim
Teacher

Ms Zeenath Begum d/o Abdul Jabbar
Teacher

Ms Deepa Bhatt
Teacher
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SKA’s Khalsa Kindergarten Staff

Ms Annbualaiki d/o Sinnathamby
Teacher

Ms Jaswinderjit Kaur
Teacher

Ms Reena Tiwari
Admin Assistant/Relief

Ms Manpreet Kaur
Teacher

Ms Vasagee d/o Narayanasamy
Teacher

Ms Jeyton Binte Abdul Ghani
Cook
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SKA’S

Committees and
Sub-Committees
In 2020, SKA established 15 committees and sub-committees to assist the MC in the pursuit of the Association’s mission and objectives.
Each committee and sub-committee is led by a MC member with SKA’s President and Vice Presidents playing advisory roles. These committees and
sub-committees meet regularly to examine and address the key items under their purview.
The MC is delighted to have SKA’s members coming forward to serve on these committees and sub-committees. Together with the MC members,
they play an important role in ensuring that the Association functions in the most professional, efficient and effective manner for the benefit of its
members and the larger Sikh community.

Administrative and
Administrative
andHuman
HumanResource
ResourceManagement
Management
This sub-committee plays an important role in enhancing the professional standards of SKA’s administration. Among others, it undertakes financial
enhancement and human resource-related projects and initiatives, as well as identifies training courses and enrichment programmes for the staff. At
the same time, it focuses on the prioritisation of regular administrative tasks for the administrative team.
Advisors

Mr Hernaikh Singh				
Mr Tarlok Singh

Chairperson

Mr Baldev Singh s/o Avatar Singh

Administration Representatives

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Ms Sukhwender Kaur
Ms Tsasikala
Ms V Gayadri

Building and Facilities
Building
Facilities
This committee oversees the Association’s physical assets, including the building. It administers and regularly reviews the condition of the building
and facilities in and around the premises. It also ensures that these are safe and adequate for the members’ needs. Lastly, it plays an important role
in ensuring the professional presentation of the Association’s image through regular maintenance and upgrades.
Advisor

Mr Sarjit Singh s/o Udam Singh

Chairperson

Mr Satinder Pal Singh

Members

Mr Sarjeet Singh Sohal
Mr Jaswant Singh
Mr Anandveer Singh

Administration Representatives

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Ms Tsasikala

Culture and
and Social
Social
Culture
Social and cultural activities are also important aspects of the Association’s offerings to the members. Through this committee, SKA presents a
diverse range of activities, including the Vesakhi Mela, Diwali function, networking sessions, and bhangra, dhol and Bollywood dance classes, among
others, to its members. This committee also plays the important role of showcasing the Sikh community’s rich culture, tradition and heritage to the
wider community.
Advisor

Mr Sarabjeet Singh

Chairperson

Mr Gursewak Singh Gill
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SKA’s Committees and Sub-Committees

Members

Mr Afiqah Salim
Mr Paul Veer Singh
Mr Rajvinder Singh
Mr Harkrishan Singh Bajaj

Administration Representatives

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Ms Sukhwender Kaur

Editorial and Publications
Editorial
Publications
This sub-committee oversees the production of SKA’s publications and publicity and marketing materials. The revamped newsletter, launched in
November 2018, is a brainchild of this committee. It also produces the Annual Report, which witnessed a sea change in 2019. Lastly, it has been
bringing out regular posters and flyers on the Association’s events and initiatives in an effort to keep the members abreast of developments at the
Association.
Advisor

Mr Hernaikh Singh

Chairperson

Ms Kiran Kaur Gill

Members

Mr Jagjit Singh Sandhu
Mr Baldev Singh s/o Avatar Singh
Ms Harpreet Kaur

Administration Representatives
Ms Tsasikala
				

Education
Education

This committee looks after the educational arm of the Association. It is responsible for the professional, efficient and effective management of Khalsa
Kindergarten. It ensures that the kindergarten meets the standards and regulations set by the government as well as adopts the best practices in
pre-school education. Lastly, it focuses on the regular development of the kindergarten’s teachers and staff.
Advisor

Mr Sarabjeet Singh

Chairperson

Mr Kuldip Singh

Members

Mr Malvinder S Bandal
Mr Dilbagh Singh
Mr Sarban Singh
Mr Nirmal Singh Rode
Mr Parwinder Singh Grewal

Kindergarten Representative

Mdm Santi Devi

Financial Management
Financial
Management
This sub-committee is responsible for the financial management of the Association. In addition to ensuring the highest standards of governance
and prudence, the sub-committee conducts regular reviews of SKA’s accounts as well as periodical assessments of the need for and cost of various
activities. It is currently in the process of studying further enhancements to the online payment system for the Association.
Advisor

Mr Hernaikh Singh

Chairperson

Ms Ezrynn Kaur Charl

Members

Mr Gurpreet Singh
Mr Baldev Singh s/o Avatar Singh

Administration Representatives

Ms Sukhwender Kaur
Ms Tsasikala

House
House
This committee manages the smooth and efficient operation of SKA’s facilities. These include the ballroom, function halls, restaurant, gymnasium and
futsal courts, among others. It also manages the Association’s agreements with internal and external vendors and partners. At the same time, it is
responsible for ensuring proper procedures and controls in the leasing of SKA’s premises and facilities.
Advisor

Mr Sarjit Singh s/o Udam Singh

Chairperson

Mr Tejinderdeb Singh Gill
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Members

Mr Surindar Singh
Mr Baldev Singh s/o Avatar Singh
Mr Hernaikh Singh

Administration Representatives

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Ms Sukhwender Kaur

Khalsa Kindergarten Relocation/Renovation
In August 2020, the MC approved Khalsa Kindergarten’s move from Beatty Road to Level 5 of the Association. The Khalsa Kindergarten Relocation/
Renovation Sub-committee was established to oversee the relocation and renovation of the kindergarten. It is responsible for the planning and design
layout for the project and in seeking the necessary internal and external approvals. It will also manage the tender exercise and propose the necessary
recommendations on the project to the MC. At the same time, it will manage the execution of the renovation works and the ultimate relocation from
and closure of the kindergarten at Beatty Road.
Leader

Mr Malvinder S Bandal

Assistant Leader

Mr Kuldip Singh

Legal Advisor

Mr Satinder Pal Singh

Design and Operations

Mdm Santi Devi
Mr Parwinder Singh Grewal

Technical Team Members

Mr Sarjeet Singh Sohal
Mr Pritam Singh
Mr Ranjeet Singh Khaira

Administration Representatives

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Ms Tsasikala

Ladies Wing
Wing
Ladies
The Association makes a conscious and concerted effort to reach out to all segments of its membership. This committee encourages the participation
of the women in SKA’s social, cultural and enrichment programmes. Through such activities, the committee also aims to enhance the camaraderie and
cohesive spirit amongst the ladies.
Advisor

Mr Sarabjeet Singh

Chairperson

Ms Harbinder Kaur

Deputy Chairperson

Ms Lela Kaur

Secretary

Professor Berinderjeet Kaur

Treasurer

Ms Harbans Kaur

Members

Ms Manjeet Kaur
Ms Mindar Kaur
Ms Malkit Kaur
Ms Gurmit Kaur
Ms Harsharan Kaur Basant

Administration Representatives

Ms Sukhwender Kaur
Ms V Gayadri

Media and
and Corporate
Corporate Communications
Media
Communications
This sub-committee plays the important role of enhancing the Association’s image and brand name. It focuses on SKA’s corporate communications
and media initiatives. It works closely with the other committees and sub-committees to proactively and effectively communicate SKA’s programmes
and initiatives to the members, partners and the general public through traditional and social media means.
Advisor

Mr Hernaikh Singh

Chairperson

Ms Kiran Kaur Gill

Members

Mr Baldev Singh s/o Avatar Singh

SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION
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Ms Harpreet Kaur
Mr Baru Walia
Mr Simarnirvair Singh
Ms Resvin Kaur
Administration Representatives

Ms Tsasikala
Ms V Gayadri

Membership
Membership
This committee devises relevant strategies and platforms to grow the Association’s membership. These include referral programmes, special offers,
as well as initiatives focusing on the ladies and younger Sikhs. At the same time, it reaches out to the members through formal and informal channels
on membership needs, programmes and policies.
Advisor

Mr Hernaikh Singh

Chairperson

Mr Surindar Singh

Members

Mr Tarlok Singh (Sports)
Ms Kiran Kaur Gill (Media and Communications)
Ms Harveen Kaur (Young Khalsa)
Ms Harbinder Kaur/Ms Manjit Kaur (Ladies Wing)
Mr Sukvinder Singh Sandhu (Veterans)
Mr Prem Singh (General Secretary)
Mr Sapuran Singh
Mr Ravinjit Singh
Mr Hari Bhullar

Administration Representatives

Ms V Gayadri
Ms Tsasikala

SEWAHealthcare
Healthcare
Sewa
This is the latest inclusion at the Association. Set up in late 2020, SEWA Healthcare is made up of a group of healthcare professionals. It aims to raise
awareness and provide education, counselling and support to people with chronic diseases and terminal illnesses, their families and the community
in order to empower them to lead quality, healthy and productive lives.
Advisor

Mr Hernaikh Singh

Chairperson

Mr Satyaprakash Tiwari

Vice Chairpersons

Dr Gurpal Singh
Ms Narindarjeet Kaur

Secretary

Ms Gormit Kaur

Assistant Secretary

Ms Manprit Kaur

Treasurer

Ms Bhavana Rao

Assistant Treasurer

Ms Manjit Kaur

Members

Ms Arvinder Kaur
Ms Gurdev Kaur
Ms Jaspreet Kaur
Ms Kaldip Kaur Deol
Ms Kowsula Kaur Patel
Ms Malkit Kaur Dhaliwal
Mr Prem Singh
Ms Rusvinder Kaur
Dr Trishpal Kaur Dhaliwal

Administration Representatives

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Ms Tsasikala
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Sports
Sports
Sporting activities have been SKA’s mainstay since its inception. This committee promotes and leads the organisation of sporting activities at the
Association. Focusing on competitive and non-competitive sports, the diverse range of activities includes badminton, football golf, hockey, netball and
pool. In addition to providing the platform for the members to enjoy these activities, the committee aims to inculcate the important qualities of team
spirit, sportsmanship and camaraderie among the sportspersons at the Association.
Advisors

Mr Sarjit Singh s/o Udam Singh
Dr Kong Cheee Seng

Chairperson

Mr Tarlok Singh

Secretary

Mr Prem Singh

Treasurer

Mr Baldev Singh

Members

Mr Belvinderjit Singh (Hockey Convenor)
Ms Harvender Kaur (Football Convenor)
Ms Kiran Kaur (Netball Convenor)
Mr Amarpal Singh (Badminton Convenor)
Mr Sapuran Singh (Golf Convenor)
Mr Iqbal Singh (Pool Convenor)
Mr Sukvinder Singh Sandhu (Veteran Sports Convenor)

Administration Representatives

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Ms V Gayadri

Veteran Wing
Veterans
Established in 2019, this committee organises social, sporting and health-focussed activities for SKA’s senior members. The committee encourages
these members to lead an active and healthy life while also connecting them to the Association.
Advisor

Mr Sarjit Singh s/o Udam Singh

Chairperson

Mr Sukvinder Singh Sandhu

Members

Mr Hernaikh Singh
Mr Jaswant Singh
Mr Prem Singh

Administration Representatives

Mr Gurbachan Singh
Ms V Gayadri

Young Khalsa
Khalsa
Young
SKA also proactively reaches out the younger segment of the Sikh community. This committee focus on the professional and personal development of
young Sikh members through intellectual and enrichment programmes. In addition, it reaches out to young parents and their children and organises
activities to develop young minds and build stronger bonds between the two groups.
Advisor

Mr Sarabjeet Singh

Chairperson

Ms Harveen Kaur

Members

Ms Kaveeta Sandhu
Ms Simran Kaur Sidhu
Ms Sangeeta Kaur
Ms Kamal Joti Kaur
Ms Rakvinder Kaur Khare
Ms Sukhwinder Kaur
Ms Chaman Kaur Sidhu

Administration Representatives

Ms Tsasikala
Ms Sukhwender Kaur
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SKA’S

story
SKA is the brainchild of several Raffles Institution boys who felt
the need to establish a sports club which they could call their own
and represent in games against other clubs. So, with the backing
of several adults, these young sports enthusiasts took it upon
themselves to form the Singapore Sikhs Cricket Club (SSCC) in 1927.
Shortly thereafter, the SSCC members decided to formally register
their club. In May 1931, the sports club became formally registered
as SKA.

Sports
Sports
When SKA was formed, all activities organised centred on
games, particularly football, with occasional hockey and cricket
competitions.
In 1934, the Association played a friendly competition against
the Selangor Sikhs Union which was the sports body of the Sikh
community in Selangor. Hockey, cricket and football were featured
in this competition and SKA’s teams travelled to Selangor for the first
meeting between the two clubs. This meeting laid the foundation
for the subsequent annual competition between SKA and other Sikh
sports teams from various Malayan states, popularly known as the
Gurdwara Cup.

In August 1961, the cultural section organised a Punjabi Mela. This
Mela, the first such project undertaken by the Association, was a
grand affair incorporating folk songs, dances, games, a food fair
and a kabadi exhibition. Held in the Punjabi tradition, the fun fair
was for the benefit of young Sikhs who had never seen Punjab.
The participation was so encouraging that SKA decided to hold
it annually as part of the Annual Singapore Sikh Sports Meet. At
the fourth Mela, there was an estimated crowd of 4,000 people,
indicating the extent to which the activities of SKA appealed to the
community.
Today, apart from the annual Vesakhi Mela, SKA’s cultural section
shares and showcases the rich, colourful and vibrant culture of the
Sikh community with the wider Singapore society through an array
of diverse platforms.

Currently, SKA actively nurtures talents in six sports, with almost
180 sports members from 13 teams competing in domestic and
international tournaments. We at SKA take pride in the fact that the
Association caters to people of all races, both genders and, most
importantly, different age groups.

Education
Education
One less-known fact about SKA is its active support for education
in the Sikh community since the 1960s. Though Punjabi classes
were traditionally conducted by the gurudwaras, the first formalised
attempt was undertaken by the Singapore Sikh Partinidh Sabha
(SSPS) just after the Second World War.
SKA began to take an active interest after contacts were made
between members of SKA and the SSPS in the 1960s. The
Association started the Khalsa Punjabi School which commenced
classes in 1971. Classes formerly functioning in other centres were
closed. The SSPS was dissolved in 1971.

Culture
Culture
In August 1960, SKA received a letter from a group of Sikh youths
called the Singapore Sikh Cultural Group (SSCG) on the possibility of
affiliation. Less than a year later, SKA constitutionally incorporated
the SSCG.

A further milestone of the Association was starting the Khalsa
Kindergarten in 1992 to provide high quality, well-rounded, and
extensive English education to preschoolers. The kindergarten
enhances its students’ holistic growth through a curriculum that
develops their physical, intellectual, social, emotional and moral
faculties.
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Ladies
LadiesWing
Wing
SKA in the 1930s was totally dominated by male Sikhs. There was
not a single female member even though there were no regulations
barring them from membership. Their omission was more a result
of circumstance than design. It must be borne in mind that in those
days, the female Sikh population was very small. Also, unlike the
young male Sikhs, they were not sent to local schools and there
was limited interaction with their peers. The conservative Sikh
community also ruled out their participation in outdoor games like
hockey and cricket.
By the 1960s, the Association had come a long way from the
Association one which was first conceived in 1931. Its activities
also catered to women and children who had previously remained
outside the concerns of the Association.
However, it was only in 1992 that the Ladies Wing was set up
to organise activities to meet the social, health, cultural and
recreational needs of Sikh women in Singapore.
SKA’s Ladies Wing has been organising regular activities for the
ladies in the Sikh community at large. These include the Chair
Yoga, Teeyan, Lohri, Mother’s Day celebration and the International
Women’s Day Family Day, among others.

SEWAHealthcare
Healthcare
SEWA
The COVID-19 outbreak in 2020 gave SKA the impetus to look at the
health and medical-related issues of the community. In addition to
socio-economic challenges, COVID-19 resulted in health challenges
for Singaporeans across different groups. The Association felt that
community efforts were necessary to complement the government’s
efforts to reach out to those in need.
SEWA Healthcare was launched in December 2020. Comprising
healthcare professionals from the allied health, medical and nursing
fields, SEWA Healthcare provides education, counselling and
support to people with medical needs, as well as their families and
the community in order to empower them to lead quality, healthy
and productive lives.
In an effort to remain relevant and be able to respond to the changing
local and international landscapes, SKA continually undertakes
a strategic review of its programmes and activities. Since its
establishment, it has initiated important and necessary platforms to
address the concerns and needs of its members in particular and the
Sikh community in general. It will continue to adopt this proactive
approach, moving forward.

YoungKhalsa
Khalsa
Young
In September 1966, the Association organised a camp at Tanah
Merah for Sikh youths between the ages of 14 and 20. About 200
Sikh boys and girls attended the camp which was aimed at instilling
Sikhism in them.
By the 1960s, SKA was evidently showing an interest in the
development of young Sikhs in the community. This was particularly
important because of the environment in which the young were
growing up. Almost all of them were educated in English-stream
schools and the English language was fast replacing Punjabi as the
lingua franca among the local Sikhs.
While activities were regularly organised for Sikh youths by the
Association, a youth wing, Young Khalsa, was formally established
in 1997. It provides a platform for young Sikhs to meet, interact and
network with one another and with the youth wings of other ethnic
groups. In recent times, it has also initiated programmes for young
parents with the aim of building bonds between the parents and
their children.
SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION
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There have been many significant and memorable milestones in
the Association’s history. It started out as a cricket club and today,
it is a premier sports, cultural and recreational Sikh institution in
Singapore. SKA will steadfastly build on its past successes. It will
continue to serve its members and the Sikh community at large and
ensure that it remains a member-focussed, exciting and vibrant
organisation.
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Facilities and
Amenities
Following its refurbishment in 2016, SKA has been equipped
with state-of-the-art facilities and a myriad of amenities for both
members and non-members.

Lee
LeeFoundation
FoundationHall
Hall

Function
FunctionRoom
Room
SKA’s function room is much sought after for birthday celebrations,
talks and seminars, and other functions. It can accommodate up to
140 guests.

The large and spacious Lee Foundation Hall offers the ideal option for
bigger-scale events across a similar range as those at the ballroom.
With its seating capacity of 450 guests, the hall is popular for Indian
weddings (with the ceremony fire pit), wedding receptions, sangeets
(pre-wedding events) and community functions.

Boardroom
Boardroom

Ballroom
Ballroom

RooftopActivity
ActivityArea
Area
Rooftop

SKA’s ballroom offers a picture-perfect venue for all celebrations.
These include weddings, receptions, solemnisation ceremonies,
corporate and gala dinners, appreciation dinners, birthday and
anniversary celebrations and award ceremonies. The ballroom can
accommodate 250 guests.

The rooftop provides an idyllic open-air option for those seeking a
less formal setting for their events. Offering a commanding view
of the Balestier Plains, SKA’s rooftop is a perfect venue for social
gatherings and networking events.

The Boardroom caters to corporate events such as board meetings,
management discussions, seminars and trainings, just to name a
few.
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DanceStudio
Studio
Dance
With a space of 540 square feet, the SKA dance studio can be
used for a variety of purposes, including auditions, dance and yoga
classes, and fitness sessions, among others. It is also ideal for
video and film shoots, scaled stills photography, rehearsals and preproduction activities.

Moghul
MoghulMahal
MahalRestaurant
Restaurant

The Association can also assist in coordinating with the vendors for
the décor for events at its premises. There are choices for layouts
and decorations to suit each guest’s specific needs and occasion.

CarPark
Park
Car
The car park at the Association can accommodate up to 26 vehicles.
SKA’s members who have provided their cars’ IU information to SKA
enjoy special parking rates at the car park.

SKA’s in-house caterer, Moghul Mahal Restaurant, offers exquisite
traditional North Indian culinary delights. The restaurant can
accommodate up to 60 guests. Menus can be tailor-made upon
request by the guests. Whether it is dining in, a small private party
or a corporate dinner, Moghul Mahal Restaurant has the experience
and ability to cater for the guest’s specific needs to ensure a
beautiful experience.

Futsal
FutsalPitches
Pitches

Gold’sGym
GymSingapore
Singapore
Gold’s

KhalsaKindergarten
Kindergarten
Khalsa

Gold’s Gym Singapore is a results-oriented personal training
gymnasium with more than 15 branches across Singapore. Based
on appointment bookings, the gymnasium specialises in tailor-made
fitness programmes and body transformation.

Khalsa Kindergarten, presently located at Beatty Road, is a
registered educational institution with the ECDA and is certified by
the Singapore Pre-school Accreditation Framework.

The Association operates the Premier Pitch@SKA and Studio
Futsal pitches. Various pitch sizes are available for 4-, 5-, 7-, 9- and
11-a-side matches.
These pitches are a hit with football, hockey and cricket enthusiasts.

EventSupport
Support(Audio
(AudioVisual
Visualand
andDécor)
Décor)
Event

The Kindergarten’s enrollment has been increasing over the years
and it is managed by a team of hardworking and dedicated staff.

SKA’s audio visual requirements are provided by the in-house vendor,
FEPL, where standard and special packages have been tailored and
priced. The hirer also has the flexibility to request for additional
equipment and services at additional cost.

Parents can be assured that their children receive an all-round
education at the kindergarten, including participation in various
extra-curricular activities such as swimming lessons, enrichment
classes and excursions.
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Membership
Benefits
In our continuous endeavour to ensure that SKA is a vibrant, lively
and member-centric institution, we have been enhancing the
offerings for our members. SKA’s membership certainly has its
privileges. The members enjoy an exclusive range of benefits across
a multitude of social, networking, cultural, sporting and educational
activities and programmes.

Bookingof
ofFunction
FunctionHalls
Halls and Boardroom
Booking
SKA members enjoy preferential rates for the booking of the
ballroom and conference facilities. The premises are conducive for
the organisation of large-scale and smaller, more intimate events.
The rates are extremely competitive.

DiscountsatatIn-house
In-houseEstablishments
Establishments
Discounts
SKA’s members are offered attractive discounts at SKA’s in-house
establishments – the restaurant, lounge, gymnasium and futsal
courts.

Eventsand
andActivities
Activities
Events
The Association organises a wide range of events and activities,
independently and in partnership with like-minded organisations.
These include:
• Vesakhi Mela: The two-day social, cultural and sporting
extravaganza is traditionally held in conjunction with Vesakhi.
It reaches out to thousands of attendees from different ethnic
groups, ages and backgrounds.
• Diwali Nite: This thematic year-end event is a major highlight
on SKA’s calendar and is a special celebration of Diwali.

• Enrichment Programmes: The activities focus on the mental,
emotional and professional development of the members. These
include health talks, professional presentations and panel
discussions.

MerchantDiscount
DiscountProgramme
Programme
Merchant
Launched in 2018, the Merchant Discount programme allows SKA’s
members to enjoy a range of discounts and benefits at a select group
of establishments across Singapore. These include sports clubs and
outlets, dining and entertainment establishments, and beauty and
healthcare centres, among others.
We are constantly reviewing and enhancing this programme for the
benefit of the members.

Publications
Publicationsand
andSocial
Social Media Outreach
The tri-annual newsletter, SKA News, is a regular feature on SKA’s
media and communications initiative for the members. It features
news and happenings at the Association and on community and
international developments. In addition, members can advertise on
the various SKA platforms.
At the same time, SKA engages regularly with the members via
social media platforms such as Facebook and Instagram.

SpecialParking
Parking Rates
Rates
Special
The Association’s members with registered vehicles with the
Administration Office enjoy special parking rates at its private car
park.

In 2020, we took the Diwali celebrations online as a result of the
restrictions imposed by the government due to COVID-19.
• Networking and Social Events: The Association’s members
benefit by way of privileged access or discounted fees for
members’ nights, celebratory receptions and networking sessions
and functions.
• Public Lectures and Talks: These highly informative sessions
focus on a diverse range of local, regional and global issues and
developments, and are presented by experts in the respective
fields.
• Family-focussed Events: These fun and educational activities
are aimed at enhancing bonds between the parents and children.
They include events such as story-telling and movie-screening,
among others.

Singapore Khalsa Association
2 Tessensohn Road, Singapore 217646
Telephone: 62981230 I 62986206
Email: info@singaporekhalsa.org.sg

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
1 9 31

Page 24

SKA’S

Membership
Growth
These measures had a two-fold impact on SKA’s membership
drive. Firstly, the Membership Committee could not initiate any
promotional activities, as it had done so well in 2019, to attract new
members. Secondly, the Association, as a whole, was only able to
organise a limited number of in-person activities in the course of the
year. In 2019, the organisation of a large number of activities offered
SKA the opportunity to promote its offerings, thereby providing the
incentive to potential members to savour the benefits they would
gain by being part of the Association.

SKA had 2,166 members at the end of 2020. They comprised 1,668
‘Life’ members and 174 ‘Associate Life’ members. The remaining
included ‘Associate’, ‘Junior’ and ‘Sports’ members.
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020 had a
significant adverse impact on the Association’s efforts to attract
new members. The Singapore government announced a Circuit
Breaker from 7 April to 1 June 2020. Most workplaces were closed,
except for those providing essential services, and schools moved to
full home-based learning.

In spite of these challenges, the MC and the Membership Committee
persevered and reached out to individuals at the personal level. This
effort witnessed 15 new members becoming part of the Association
in a difficult business year.

Similarly, SKA suspended its activities during that period. In
May 2020, the government announced the lifting of measures
progressively in three phases.

‘Life’ Membership Growth (2010-2020)
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Other than the ‘Life’ membership categories, the other membership categories at the Association are the ‘Junior’, ‘Sports’ and ‘Associate’ memberships.
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SKA’s Membership Growth

MovingForward
Forward
Moving

Feedbackfrom
fromthe
theMembers
Members
Feedback

The Membership Committee will intensify its membership drive
efforts in 2021 to bring on board new members through direct
publicity and outreach efforts, membership promotions and events,
programmes and activities that are permissible under the COVID-19
guidelines.

The feedback from SKA’s members is always welcome. The MC
and the Membership Committee actively reach out to the members
from time to time for their inputs on specific issues and areas of
interest. This is deemed to be important in helping us to tailor our
programmes to be more member-centric and relevant.

We hope the easing of COVID-19 measures will allow us to further
enhance SKA’s membership.

Based on the feedback received, among others, the Membership
Committee is now working on enhancing the range and diversity
of SKA’s membership categories. The feedback from the members,
particularly, the resounding support for the resolution at the AGM in
2020, was also crucial in the MC’s decision to relocate the lounge
to the first floor.

Growingthe
theMembership
Membership
Growing
One of the important elements of the MC’s manifesto is to attract
younger Sikhs and Sikh ladies as SKA’s members.
The Membership Committee is working on several proposals in this
respect. These include the option of making the ‘Life’ membership
transferable and introducing several new membership categories.
The MC plans to present these proposals at the AGM in 2021.
At the same time, the Membership Committee is revising the
Merchant Discount Programme with the intention of increasing the
number and range of partners, thereby providing more options to
SKA’s members. The Merchant Discount Programme is an important
initiative, which is welcome by the members. We believe that we
can expand the programme significantly.

Engagingwith
withthe
theMembers
Members
Engaging
The Membership Committee has been painstakingly reviewing the
details of each and every member of the Association. It has been
reaching out to SKA’s members to update their details, including
their email addresses, and ensure that their membership records
are complete and up to date.
We strongly believe that this exercise is important as it will ensure
that we are able to reach out directly to all members so as to
enhance member engagement and participation in the Association’s
programmes and initiatives.
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event
diversity
Following an impressive range of activities in 2019, SKA was geared
for an equally active and exciting 2020. We started well, organising
and participating in 12 events in January and February 2020.
On 23 January 2020, Singapore reported its first COVID-19 case. By
February and March 2020, the number of cases started to increase.
On 7 April 2020, the Singapore government put in place the Circuit
Breaker, which lasted till 1 June 2020. The government then
gradually lifted some restrictions in several phases over the course
of the year.
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the Circuit Breaker
significantly affected SKA and our ability to organise activities
for our members. During the Circuit Breaker, we were not able
to organise any physical activity. Thereafter, we were allowed to
organise only restricted activities for our members.
The Association innovated where possible and took the organisation
of our events on-line. We organised and supported more than 12
online events in 2020. These included the Vesakhi initiatives, Circuit
Breaker fun for children, cultural hungama, tea-time conversations,

virtual football tournament and panjiri making, among others. We
even had to hold our AGM online in 2020 during the restrictions
imposed by the government. Such alternative approaches were
important as they enabled our members to continue to enjoy
activities presented by the Association. At the same time, these
activities allowed SKA to engage our members.
During 2020, we also continued to reach out to like-minded
organisations to organise joint events and support their initiatives.
These included Afsana SG, Mental ACT, YSA, SSPN, SGSewa,
SIWEC, Sikh Sewaks Singapore, RedDot Bhangra and the SIFAS.
Such collaborations were important as they enhanced the
Association’s capacity to bring out a greater number of relevant
programmes for our members.
By the end of the year, SKA had organised, participated and supported
46 events and activities. In view of the COVID-19 pandemic in
Singapore and the restrictions, this was a commendable effort.
Moving forward, we hope to be able to do more with the possible
lifting of restrictions by the government.

Diversity of Events (2020)

4
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Educational
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DholClasses
Classes
Dhol

BollywoodDance
DanceClasses
Classes
Bollywood

The Association started the third run of the dhol classes in January
2020.

Initiated in 2018, SKA’s Bollywood dance classes are a testament to
some enjoyable and exciting offerings at the Association.

We were delighted to have internationally-renowned Lightning
Dholi Rajay as an instructor to share his art with SKA’s members
and the community.

The class, which kicked off on 7 January 2020, had 12 enthusiastic
students. The one-hour class was not only a dance practice session,
but also an exercise as well as friends get-together time. The
trainees had great fun during the lessons.

During the Beginner classes, Mr Rajay taught the students how to
coordinate their hands to play in synchronisation and master up to
six different beats with different beat counts. At the end of eight
lessons, the students were armed with the confidence to perform
dhol beats and overcome their fears of performing in front of
audiences.

TaekwondoClasses
Classes
Taekwondo
The taekwondo trainees also began their classes in early January
2020. Started in 2019, the activity has witnessed a steady enrollment
of students.
A highly qualified senior instructor, Mr Virender Singh, conducted
the classes. He is a 7th Dan Black Belt (Chung Do Kwan Federation in
South Korea), Black Belt (Kukiwon in South Korea) and 7th Dan Black
Belt (Singapore Taekwondo Gymnasium). He is also an examiner
with Singapore Taekwondo Gymnasium and a trainer with People’s
Association as well as the Vice-President of the Singapore Martial
Instructors Association.
As a result of the COVID-19 outbreak, the classes were suspended
in March 2020.
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The attendees, ranging from the young to the young-at-heart, were
directed by well-known and experienced instructor, Mr Pavan Kumar,
who introduced some famous Bollywood moves and enhanced the
agility and confidence in these participants.

LohriCelebrations
Celebrations
Lohri
On 11 January 2020, more than 500 members and guests attended
the Lohri celebrations at the Association. They had a great time
celebrating an important occasion on the SKA Ladies Wing’s
calendar.
During the first major event at SKA in the new year, the ladies
were entertained by singing and dance performances. At the same
time, the ladies lit up a traditional bonfire which marks the end of
winter in Punjab, India. The attendees were also treated to several
delectable snacks and sweets throughout the event.
A popular Punjabi folk festival, Lohri is celebrated by the Sikhs and
Hindus from Punjab on 13 January each year.
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Veterans’Hockey
HockeyTournament
Tournament
Veterans’

StartofofChair
ChairYoga
YogaSessions
Sessions
Start

The SKA hockey section started the year with an exciting veterans’
hockey tournament on 11 January 2020. Nine teams took part in the
half-day event.

Close to 40 participants registered for first module of the Chair Yoga
session. Unfortunately, we were only able to complete six lessons
between 16 January and 20 February 2020 at Khalsa Dharmak
Sabha. Lessons had to be suspended due to the COVID-19 outbreak.

Mr Ajit Singh was the Guest-of-Honour for the tournament. He
represented Singapore in hockey at the 1956 Melbourne Olympics.
The veterans certainly had a good time, playing the sport they love,
with many of them looking forward to more such opportunities.

Following the suspension of classes, the Chair Yoga volunteers
made occasional calls to the participants to encourage and motivate
them to continue with their exercises.

CupcakeClass
Class@SKA
@SKA
Cupcake
InauguralVeterans
Veterans(Golden
(Golden-Ager)
Inaugural
Agers) Event
On 18 January 2020, SKA and SIWEC organised the inaugural
Veterans (Golden-Ager) event for those aged 60 and above.
More than 40 veterans participated in a Zumba exercise, push
hockey sharpshooter competition on the futsal pitch and a quiz
session.
During the push hockey sharpshooter competition, the participants
were given three tries to push the hockey ball across a distance
of seven metres between two posts. The winners were presented
with vouchers. During the quiz segment, the participants were taken
down memory lane, with questions ranging from SKA and SIWEC’s
backgrounds to sports activities and personalities.
The participants were also treated to a high tea/light dinner
reception sponsored by SIWEC during the event.

SKA organised a cupcake baking class for the first time on 29
January 2020.
Ms Amrita Dhillon, who led the class, started baking as a hobby
in her modest little kitchen. This passion inspired her to pursue
many baking courses like that at the prestigious Institute of Culinary
Education in New York. With this zeal for baking, Ms Amrita decided
to take a leap of faith and quit her full-time job to make baking her
career.
The participants had a wonderful time during the two-and-halfhour session. They whipped up the ingredients for the cupcakes
and prepared the icing. They then tried their hand at decorating the
cupcakes.
At the end of the class, each participant went home with six
gorgeous and delectable cupcakes.

Launch
LaunchofofSKA’s
SKA’sMembership
MembershipReferral
ReferralProgramme
Programme
On 20 March 2020, SKA launched the membership referral
programme to further increase its ‘Life’ membership.
Through the initiative, we encouraged members to refer their family
members and friends to be ‘Life’ members of the Association. In
return, they were rewarded with a $30 CapitaLand voucher when
these persons signed up.
The offer was open till the planned Vesakhi Mela on 11 and 12 April
2020 and valid to for the first 20 successful applications. We were
hoping for the same level of success as a year earlier. Unfortunately,
the COVID-19 pandemic and the Circuit Breaker hampered our
membership drive.
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SKA’s Key Events (April to June 2020)

FundraisingDrive
Drivefor
forSikh
Sikh Community Initiatives
Initiatives
Fundraising
In April 2020, SKA initiated a fundraising drive for the daily food
provision initiatives of the gurdwaras. The funds are also meant to
provide relief to those in need during the trying times caused by
the COVID-19 pandemic. Livelihoods and daily sustenance were
adversely impacted by the outbreak.
Since the start of the pandemic, the gurdwaras had been busy
preparing and serving meals for those in need. Each week, 12,000
meals were prepared by the gurdwaras. Given that the gurdwaras
have been closed during the Circuit Breaker, it was a financial
challenge for them to carry out this service.
The Association raised more than $12,000 through its fundraising
effort. These donations were given to the Central Sikh Temple
and Khalsa Dharmak Sabha to help with their langar sewa and to
SGSewa for its ration distribution initiative.
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more knowledge about how the Khalsa was formed whilst having
fun colouring the book.
On 11 April 2020, the SKA team presented video compilations of
families and individuals from all walks and backgrounds extending
Vesakhi greetings from the comfort of their homes during the Circuit
Breaker. More than 30 video clips in eight segments were presented
on SKA’s Facebook throughout the day.
This video presentation effort was also appreciated by SKA’s
members and the community at large, with a lot of complimentary
feedback received by the SKA team.

Circuit Breaker
Breaker Fun for Punjabi
Circuit
Punjabi Children:
Children:Punjabi
PunjabiBoard
Board
Game
Gameand
andPunjabi
PunjabiScavenger
ScavengerHunt
Hunt
The Circuit Breaker forced many Singaporeans to remain indoors.
Similarly, schools were closed and schoolchildren were placed on
the ‘home-based learning’ or ‘online’ schedule.
In our effort to keep the children entertained, we prepared fun
games for Punjabi children to play during the Circuit Breaker period
and beyond. The two games were the Punjabi Board Game and
Punjabi Scavenger Hunt.
The simple and interesting printable Punjabi Board Game was both
a fun and educational tool for the children. Akin to the normal board
games using a dice and a piece for each player, the children had to
simply answer the questions in Punjabi and the first player to reach
the final square was declared the winner.
The Punjabi Scavenger Hunt sent the children off to a Punjabi
scavenger hunt at home. The hunt included a list of basic items that
are available in most homes. This was a super fun way to introduce
the little ones to basic household items in Punjabi.

SKA’s Vesakhi
Greeting
Packs
and
On-line
Greetings
SKA’s
VesakhiInitiatives:
Initiatives:
Greeting
Packs
andand
Online
SKA’s
Vesakhi
Initiatives:
Greeting
Packs
On-line
Greetings
Greetings
The sudden outbreak of COVID-19 resulted in the cancellation
Vesakhi Mela in April 2020. However, this did not act as deterrence
to the Association. We made use of other platforms to celebrate the
joyous occasion with the community.
The first initiative was the Vesakhi greeting pack. We sent Vesakhi
greeting cards to SKA’s members, along with an activity and colouring
book. In addition to celebrating Vesakhi reminiscing past melas, the
initiative was aimed at allowing families to come together and gain

Online Mother’s Day Celebratory
On-line
Celebratory Video
Video Montage
Montage
As a result of the COVID-19 outbreak and safe-distancing restrictions
in place, the SKA Ladies Wing was not able to host one of its key
events, Mother’s Day celebration.
In its effort to show its appreciation and honour motherhood, the
Ladies Wing brought the ladies down memory lane with a video
montage of photos from the 2019 Mother’s Day celebration.
The presentation was uploaded on SKA’s social media platforms on
9 May 2020. It was much appreciated by the members.
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SGSewaRation
RationDistribution
Distribution Initiative
SGSewa
SKA was pleased to host SGSewa’s ration distribution exercise in
May and June 2020.

SKA’s Key Events (April to June 2020)

SKA is delighted that its first online cultural venture was well
received. It was a mammoth task to put the whole event together,
given that it was the Circuit Breaker, which barred physical
communications and interactions.

Following delivery and packing of the rations a day before, SGSewa
volunteers spent the weekends distributing the rations to more than
4,000 persons. About ninety percent of the recipients were students
stranded in Singapore while the remaining were workers.
The volunteers handled the whole process professionally and
meticulously and ensured all necessary measures were in place such
as safe distancing, mask wearing and personal details recording.
SGSewa and its volunteers did great sewa during the COVID-19
pandemic, particularly during the Circuit Breaker. SKA was honoured
to be part of the initiative.

Tea
Time Conversation:
Tea-time
Conversation:Mental
Mental Health
Health in 2020
On 27 June 2020, SKA partnered Mental ACT to organise a tea-time
discussion on the alarming rise in mental issues in Singapore.
The session examined common mental health concerns in 2020,
given the COVID-19 outbreak, and how individuals could cope with
the distress. The session also allowed the participants to pick up
tips on how to support themselves and others during the testing
times.

VirtualCultural
Cultural Hungama
Hungama
Virtual
SKA presented a virtual cultural hungama on 13 June 2020. The
presentation of this cultural show reflected the enterprising
and energetic nature of the Association. We capitalised on the
social media platform to reach out to our members and the wider
community
During the show, three of Singapore’s most talented masters of
ceremonies – KP Sandhu, Alvindev and Paulveer – hosted a highly
exciting and entertaining cultural show. The viewers had the
opportunity to watch some beautiful signing by Ms Karina Kaur
Sahota and Mr Dilparinder Singh, and scintillating performances
by Yaar Panj-Aab Phangra, Joshiley Bhangra and the Jugni group.
There was also a comedy skit by Funny Punjabi Guy and a magic
show by Master Naveender Singh Sahota during the event. The
show ended with a presentation of dance floor songs by DJ Govin.
The 40-minutes show attracted more than 320 people from
Singapore as well as from overseas, with hundreds of comments
on SKA’s Facebook. The feedback was complimentary, with many
praising SKA for putting together such an entertaining show, which
lifted their spirits during the Circuit Breaker. One of the viewers, Mr
Kuldip Singh, stated, “I watched the cultural hungama. SKA did a
great job providing the platform to our talent. I enjoyed the show.”
Similarly, Mr Gurmeet Singh penned his views, “Very well received
and tremendous effort to put it all together. Well done to all!”
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The genesis behind Mental ACT is a belief that Indian mental health
professionals, due to their ability to relate to the Indian community,
may be able to address the social stigma that the Indian community
has on mental health issues.
Over the past three years, Mental ACT has organised multiple
seminars, webinars and social media campaigns aimed at raising
awareness towards mental health. It started as a ground-up
initiative and developed itself to become a non-profit organisation,
with a sole mission to champion mental health efforts within the
Indian community in Singapore. Advocacy, Care and Training which
spell as ‘ACT’ are the three pillars behind Mental ACT’s framework.
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SKA’s Key Events (July to September 2020)

Online Teeyan and National
On-line
National Day
Day Video
VideoMontage
Montage

Online Chair
On-line
Chair Yoga
Yoga Presentation
Presentation

Teeyan is an important festival for the women of Punjab and one
of the key cultural events of SKA’s Ladies Wing. This festival,
celebrated during the month of Sawan, is dedicated to the onset of
the monsoon and focuses on daughters and sisters. However, due to
the COVID-19 Circuit Breaker, the Ladies Wing was not able to host
this event. The committee innovated and decided to bring the ladies
down memory lane with a video montage of photos from the 2019
Teeyan and National Day celebrations.

On 22 September 2020, the Lady Wing’s volunteers prepared an
interesting and innovative video presentation on the Chair Yoga
exercises. The video presentation was uploaded on SKA’s social
media platforms, largely for the benefit of the seniors.

The presentation, which included messages from the Ladies
Wing’s Chairperson and Vice Chairperson in English and Punjabi
respectively, was uploaded on SKA’s social media platforms on 8
August 2020.

Prepared with the COVID-19 restrictions in mind, which prevented
the physical organisation of the session, the 20-minute video
presentation covered many of the Chair Yoga exercises so that the
ladies could continue with these exercises in the comforts of their
homes.

Participationin
in IHC’s
IHC’s Exhibition
Exhibition Organisation
Participation
Organisation
Lunchhosted
hostedfor
forMinister
Ministerof
ofState
StateMr
MrAlvin
Alvin Tan
Tan
Lunch
On 7 September 2020, Mr Chandra Das, Singapore’s Non-Resident
High Commissioner to Sri Lanka, and a senior member of the Indian
community, organised a lunch meeting with Mr Alvin Tan, Minister
of State (MOS) for Culture, Community and Youth (MCCY); and Trade
& Industry (MTI).
Held for selected community organisation leaders in the Little India
area, SKA was represented by its President, Mr Hernaikh Singh. The
lunch was an opportunity for the representatives to meet with Mr
Tan and share views about their institutions and their efforts to cater
to their communities and the wider society.
Mr Tan was elected as a Member of Parliament for Tanjong Pagar
GRC in the 2020 general election. He was appointed as a MOS in
MCCY and MTI on 1 September 2020.

SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION
1 9 31

The Ladies Wing worked hand in hand with the IHC on the
preparations and materials for the highly acclaimed exhibition on
the Sikh community in Singapore. Titled ‘Sikhs in Singapore – A
Story Untold’, the exhibition will be held at the IHC from March to
September 2021.
As part of the working group, the Ladies Wing produced the audio
and visual contents for the Punjabi folk songs for the exhibition.
Mdm Harbans Kaur of the Ladies Wing Committee also conducted a
cooking demonstration on the hybrid dish, ‘saag suri’.
At the same time, members of the Association and the Ladies Wing
contributed and sourced for artifacts for the exhibition. It is an
exhibition not to be missed!
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SKA’s Key Events (October to December 2020)

AfsanaArts
ArtsWeekend
Weekend2020
2020
Afsana

Skills Workshop
Workshop for Undergraduates
Skills

SKA partnered Afsana SG to organise a series of social and cultural
workshops on 3 and 4 October 2020.

On 7 October 2020, SKA partnered SSPN to organise a skills
workshop for undergraduates from the National University of
Singapore Sikh Society.

The weekend kicked off with a ‘Crochet’ workshop led by Ms Preet
Kaur. During this event, the participants picked up the finer points of
making a bookmark by starting from a slip knot to a chain stitch and
a single crochet stitch to build on the chain.

During the online event, the undergraduates heard the views and
perspectives of industry professionals on SQL programming, data
analytics and social media marketing. The guest speakers were Ms
Maryam Mustan from IPG Mediabrands Singapore and Mr Farhad
Patel, a manager from PwC Singapore Risk Consulting.
During the lively question and answer session, the industry
professionals actively engaged the participants as well as corrected
several widely-held misperceptions about these skills. This included
having prior programming knowledge to be able to use SQL and if
‘Likes’ on social media are a true metric of engagement.

During the ‘Boli Open Mic’ session, which was conducted via
Zoom, the participants were introduced into the origins of bolis.
Mr Hardeep Sahota and Ms Swarnjit Kaur, guest speakers from
the United Kingdom, provided insights into boli’s cultural roots.
During the breakout sessions, the participants gained deep insights
into writing a boli and learning more about bhangra and giddha’s
development as well as some of its lexicon.
The following morning, Late Mr Gur Sevak Singh, a skilled
bookbinding enthusiast, led the ‘Bookbinding’ workshop. He
introduced the origins and regional characteristics of bookbinding
styles. The participants were then led step by step to prepare their
book covers, paper signatures and Coptic stitching everything
together and revelling in their handmade masterpieces.
The final workshop for the event was the ‘Gurmukhi Calligraphy’.
Mr Avtar Singh highlighted the significance of Gurmukhi in the Sikh
faith and how practising its writing can be an enriching meditative
experience for the mind, body and soul.
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KhalsaKindergarten’s
Kindergarten’s28th
28th Graduation
Khalsa
Graduation Ceremony
Ceremony
On 17 October 2020, Khalsa Kindergarten organised its K2 graduation
ceremony at SKA. In view of the COVID-19 pandemic, the theme of
‘We Will Survive’ was appropriate for the occasion.
Mr Parwinder Singh, a member of SKA’s Education Committee, was
the Guest-of-Honour for the event. A total of 102 pupils graduated
in two sessions.
In view of the COVID-19 measures, the event was conducted in a
semi-virtual format. While the graduating pupils and their teachers
were involved in the in-person ceremony, the parents and family
members watched the graduation and the concert live via SKA’s
Facebook page.
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YSA’sOn-line
Online Sikh
YSA’s
SikhGraduates
GraduatesReception
Reception
SKA was the host partner for the Sikh graduates reception on 24
October 20201.
Organised by YSA, the ceremony was held online. Mr Alvin Tan,
Minister of State for Culture, Community and Youth; and Trade &
Industry, was the Guest-of-Honour for the event. He was joined by
Valedictorian, Mr GurJeevan Singh Balrose, who graduated with a
Bachelor of Film (Honours) from LASALLE College of the Arts, as
panellists to discuss the topic, ‘Navigating a Changing World with
Confidence’.
SKA, together with the Central Sikh Gurdwara Board, was delighted
to be a partner for the ceremony.

Seminaron
on‘Skills
‘Skills of the Future’
Seminar
On 31 October 2020, SKA and SSPN jointly organised a seminar on
‘Skills of the Future’ on 31 October 2020 at the Association.
The half-day event witnessed a number of presentations from
industry experts. These included skills of the future by Mr
Malminderjit Singh, Editor of Digital News at Channel NewsAsia;
digital marketing by Mr Nesh Patel as Digital Marketing Consultant;
blockchain by Mr Sushil Singh, Co-Founder of Hosho Labs; and
entrepreneurship by Mr Charanjit Singh, Managing Partner at
Construct Digital.

Following the panel discussions, there were lively discussions
among the speakers and attendees. These questions included the
types of skills needed for the blockchain and digital marketing
sectors, and how can young Singaporeans prepare for the new
economy, among others. The participants thoroughly enjoyed the
engagement with the speakers.

74th Annual
AGM and
MC Election
74th
Genera
SKA held its 74th AGM online on 8 November 2020. The outbreak of
COVID-19 made it implausible for the Association to hold a physical
meeting.
In addition to 164 proxy forms received at the close of submission,
the AGM witnessed the participation of more than 60 members via
Zoom.

The online AGM, though unprecedented, provided the members with
the opportunity to participate in the event through the submission
of proxy forms, resolutions and questions. More than 30 questions
were submitted by the members. The key appointees on the MC
addressed all the questions during the meeting.
Following the AGM, close to 500 members turned up at SKA to
vote for the MC for 2020-22. The election pitted the team led by
Mr Hernaikh Singh against a team helmed Mr Sukhbir Singh. At the
close of nominations, the former put forward the full complement
of 19 candidates while the latter decided to contest 10 positions
on the MC.
Following the three-hour long election, the members voted all 10
candidates on Mr Hernaikh’s team onto the MC.
This large turnout of the members at the election showed their keen
interest in the affairs and progress of the Association.
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KhalsaKindergarten’s
Kindergarten’sAnnual
AnnualConcert
Concert
Khalsa
Khalsa Kindergarten’s annual concert for K1 and Nursery classes
was held on 18 November 2020.
Held annually with great pomp and fanfare, the COVID-19 restriction
compelled the kindergarten to innovate for this event. It recorded
the performances of the children and had them delivered to the
parents on thumb-drives.

SKA’s Key Events (October to December 2020)

Participation
Participation in
in SIFAS’ Diwali
DiwaliCelebrations
Celebrations––Raise
RaiseYour
Your
Lights
LightsInitiative
Initiative
Eleven Indian community organisations, including SKA, joined SIFAS
in a unique three-day Diwali celebration from 27 November 2020.
Themed ‘Raise Your Light’, the occasion witnessed representatives
from the 11 organisations raising a diva (lamp) to embrace the
connection they share with one another. It also reflected a prayer
for a new path towards better health, safety, hope and joy for all.
SKA was represented by its Chairperson of the Cultural and Social
Committee, Mr Gursewak Singh Gill.
Apart from SKA, the other participating organisations were AKT
International; Kannada Sangha; Singapore Telugu Samajam;
Maharashtra Mandal Singapore; Bengali Association Singapore;
Gujarati Association Singapore; Singapore Malayalee Association;
Tagore Society Singapore; Kodava Community; and Soorya
Singapore.
The physical and online event included an art exhibition, art and
savoury-making competitions and music and dance performances
featuring gurus, students, alumni and parents. SKA contributed an
online bhangra performance to showcase the rich and vibrant Sikh
culture. About 80 people witnessed the programme each day at
SIFAS.

DiwaLive2020
2020
DiwaLive
SKA held a virtual cultural show on 21 November 2020 to celebrate
Diwali with its members and guests.
Titled DiwaLive, the two-hour cultural event was geared at
entertaining the members and guests during the COVID-19 pandemic.
The event had some highly entertaining performances by singers of
different genre, the customary bhangra by Yaar Panj-aab Phangra,
dhol blasting, Bollywood dance and a performance by some
evergreen ladies. In addition to games and competitions, there was
also a lucky draw segment exclusively for SKA’s members.
The event attracted more than 300 viewers from Singapore and
overseas.

LaunchofofSEWA
SEWAHealthcare
Healthcare
Launch
SEWA Healthcare was officially launched at SKA on 6 December
2020 by Dr Wan Rizal bin Wan Zakariah, Member of Parliament for
Jalan Besar GRC. Among others, a memorandum of understanding
was signed between SKA and SEWA Healthcare during the event.
Conceptualised and initiated by a group of healthcare professionals
in the allied health, medical and nursing fields, SEWA Healthcare
provides education, counselling and support to people with chronic
and terminal illnesses, as well as their families and the community
in order to empower them to lead quality, healthy and productive
lives.
SEWA Healthcare organises programmes and events to promote
active and healthy lifestyles and lifestyle management as well as
hold regular health-related sessions for the public. It also promotes
and disseminates key messages on the importance of a healthy
lifestyle and it provides opportunities for members of the society
at large to contribute to its programmes and initiatives. In addition,
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SEWA Healthcare promotes corporate social responsibility activities
such as training and enrichment programmes. It also reaches out
to and collaborate with government agencies and like-minded
organisations on health-related matters for the society at large.

ParivaarArts
Artsand
andCraft
Craft
Parivaar

Leaders and members of the Sikh community and representatives of
the medical and health fraternities in Singapore attended the launch
ceremony at the Association.

During the event, parents and their children worked on their chosen
phulkari designs on a canvas. While the parents traced the designs,
the children learnt about the history and importance of phulkari in
the Punjabi culture.

SKA’s Young Khalsa and the Cultural and Social Committee organised
the Parivaar Arts and Craft session on 19 December 2020.

One of the parents, Mr Rajay, mentioned that he was pleased with
how well the event was organised. He added his family appreciated
the knowledge gained on the phulkari.
Overall, the parents and children not only took back their creations,
but also fond memories of their time at the Association.

InauguralVirtual
VirtualFIFA21
FIFA21 Football
Football Tournament
Inaugural
Over the December holidays in 2020, SKA, in partnership with Footsy
App, organised its inaugural e-sport tournament.
Sixteen participants, including a young lady, competed in the roundrobin and knockout structured tournament. Competitors battled
it out in the latest FIFA 21 game video game on the Playstation
console. The tournament boasted of a prize pool of cash prizes, gift
vouchers and sports equipment for the various winners. In addition
to the top four places, players with the best goal of the tournament
and the least goals conceded as well as the ‘People’s Choice’ player
were rewarded for their efforts.
The tournament was held completely online with the help of
Footsy International. Through its mobile app, ‘Footsy – The Football
Super App’, participants and tournament organisers were allowed
to seamlessly view tournament information, communicate with
opponents, update match scores and facilitate registrations and
payments. The app provided the competitors a one-stop platform
for all their tournament needs without the burden of unnecessary
delays and, of course, the safety of playing from their homes.

Presentationon
onPanjiri
Panjiri Making
Making
Presentation
The SKA Ladies Wing decided to document the dying art of making
one of Punjab’s favourite and nutritious dishes – panjiri. A winter
dish, panjiri is a sweet made of whole wheat flour and lots of dry
fruits.
The Ladies Wing enlisted the assistance of Mdm Amarjit Kaur for
this initiative. She took much effort in going through each and every
step in making the dish. The 13-minute video was uploaded on SKA’s
social media platforms on 20 December 2020.
The effort was appreciated by SKA’s members and guests. We
received much complimentary feedback on this initiative.

The on-line tournament was a testament that even with the
complications of the COVID-19 pandemic, e-sport is an alternative
and viable option for sports enthusiasts.
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SKA’S

Calendar
of events
JANUARY TO MARCH
3 January

Dhol Classes

5 January

Taekwondo Classes

7 January

Bollywood Dance Classes

11 January

Lohri Celebrations

11 January

Veterans’ Hockey Tournament

16 January

Start of Chair Yoga Sessions

18 January

Inaugural Veterans (Golden-Ager) Event

19 January

Participation in Pongal Cup Hockey Tournament

22 January

Bicentennial Appreciation Dinner (In Support)

29 January

Cupcake Class@SKA

8 February

Candid Confessions – Race and Equality: Tell Us What You Think (In Support)

8 February

Indian Hall of Fame Singapore Award and Induction Ceremony (In Support)

20 March

Launch of SKA’s Membership Referral Programme

APRIL TO JUNE
1 April
13 April

SKA’S Vesakhi Initiatives: Greeting Packs and On-line Greetings

13 April

Circuit Breaker Fun for Punjabi Children: Punjabi Board Games and Punjabi Scavenger Hunt

26 April

Sikh Sewak’s Night of Quizzes (In Support)

3 May

Zee TV Premiere of ‘The Saint Soldier’ (In Support)

9 May

On-line Mother Day’s Celebratory Video Montage

10 May

SGSewa Ration Distribution Initiative (Host Partner)

16 May

Footsy Challenge: FIFA Tournament (in Support)
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24 May

Youtube Premiere of ‘The Saint Soldier’ (In Support)

5-6 June

What’s Brewing Learning Festival – The New Normal: How Has COVID-19 Changed Our Lives (In Support)

13 June

Virtual Cultural Hungama

13 June

Bhangra with a Purpose for Transient Workers (In Support)

27 June

Tea-time with Dr Gurpal: Health and Wellness during COVID-19 (In Support)

27 June

Tea-time Conversation: Mental Health in 2020 (Partnership)

JULY TO SEPTEMBER
1 August

MISL Entrepreneur Workshop Series (In Support)

8 August

On-line Teeyan and National Day Video Montage

8 August

MISL Youth Network – ‘Tests and More Tests’ (In Support)

7 September

Lunch hosted for Minister of State, Mr Alvin Tan (Organised by the Indian Community)

22 September

On-line Chair Yoga Presentation

September and October

Participation in IHC’s Exhibition Organisation

OCTOBER TO DECEMBER
3-4 October

Afsana Arts Weekend (Partnership)

7 October

Skills Workshop for Undergraduates (Partnership)

17 October

Khalsa Kindergarten’s 28th Graduation Ceremony

24 October

YSA’s On-line Sikh Graduates Reception (Host Partner)

31 October

Seminar on ‘Skills of the Future’ (Partnership)

8 November

74th Annual General Meeting and Management Committee Election

18 November

Khalsa Kindergarten’s Annual Concert

21 November

DiwaLive 2020

27 November

Participation in SIFAS’ Diwali Celebrations – Raise Your Lights Initiative

6 December

Launch of SEWA Healthcare

7 December

Inaugural Virtual FIFA21 Football Tournament

19 December

Parivaar Arts and Craft Session

20 December

Presentation on Panjiri Making
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of Trustees
General
General
SKA’s Trust Fund was set up in 1959 with the objective of investing some of the funds in the Association (savings) to provide for its longer term growth
requirements. The initial capital of the Trust Fund was $25,000 and was put under the charge of the SKA Trustees. Over the years, SKA contributed
towards this capital with further injections of $99,000 in the 1970s and $453,000 in the 1980s, making it a total of $577,000 in capital. The balance of
the growth of the Trust Fund has come from reinvestment of its earnings and capital growth of the investments made.
The current Board of Trustees comprises:
Chairperson

Mr Gurdip Singh Usma

Vice Chairman

Colonel (Retired) Gurcharan Singh Sekhon

Secretary/Treasurer

Mr Ajit Singh

Member

Mr Inderjit Singh
Mr Mejar Singh Gill
Mr Sowaran Singh
				
In 2020, we were saddened by the passing of one of the Trustees and a former SKA President, Mr Jagjit Singh Sekhon (fondly known as JJ). He was
a pillar of support not only for SKA but also for the entire Sikh community in Singapore. While we have lost one of our staunch supporters, JJ has left
us with a rich legacy, inspiring all who have worked with him. We would like to place on record our gratitude for his selfless service and express our
deepest condolences to the Sekhon family on its loss.
The members of the Investment Committee for the three-year period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 are as follows:
Chairperson

Mr Gurdip Singh Usma

Secretary

Mr Ajit Singh

Members

Dr Mandeep Singh Nalwa
Mr Harpreet Singh

In accordance with the Constitution, there should be five members on the Investment Committee. We are planning for an additional member to be
appointed to the Investment Committee in due time.
The Investment Committee met twice during the past year, together with our bankers to review the portfolio and recommend any sales or purchases.

Value of
of the
the Trust Fund
Value
Fund
Nearly all the investments of SKA’s Trust Fund are in shares of public-listed companies quoted on the Singapore Stock Exchange. The general
philosophy of the Trustees in selecting the investment companies has been that of conservatism and a long-term view. The Investment Committee, in
consultation with the investment bankers, provides the guidance in the investment decisions made by the Trustees for the Trust Fund.
The value of the Trust Fund grew steadily over time and to almost $14 million as of the end of Financial Year (FY) 2014. Most of this growth had come
in the preceding 15 years or so, resulting from the general growth of the Singapore economy, the growth of the investment companies and the bullish
stock market. The financial crisis in 2008 resulted in a decline in the investments to around $8.5 million, but the subsequent stock market recovery
more than accounted for that shortfall.
At the various SKA general meetings, the members had approved major renovations to the SKA building amounting to $11.9 million, of which the
Trustees funded $9.2 million. This amount has been fully disbursed – $7.5 million in FY2015, $1.5 million in FY2016 and the final $0.2 million in FY2017.
At the AGM in 2019, the members approved a further $550,000 for rectification and additional renovation works to be funded from the Trust Fund.
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A sum of $400,000 of this amount has been disbursed in FY2020. During FY2020, the MC replenished close to $80,000 to the Trust Fund, being the
Goods and Services Tax reimbursements from the earlier building project. The drop in the Trust Fund value over the past six years primarily reflects
these disbursements of funds.
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The Trust Fund has been steadily generating dividend income over the years. The Trustees’ general strategy over the recent years has been to
invest more in defensive and higher dividend yielding stocks, which has helped improve this source of income. In view of this, we have been able to
generate a steady flow of dividend income of approximately four per cent on an annual basis. The drop in the operating income since 2015 is due to
the reduction in the value of the Trust Fund due to the S$9.2 million and $400,000 disbursement for the SKA building renovations and rectification
mentioned above. During FY2020, there was also a significant reduction in dividend income compared to FY2019, due to the scaling back of dividends
by companies in view of the impact of COVID-19.
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TrustFund
Fund Investment
Investment Holdings
Trust
HoldingsAnalysis
Analysis
The general philosophy of the Trustees has been to spread the investments in various asset types and with a long-term view of steady growth and
reasonable yield. We have attempted to stay away from trading type investments, which may generate better returns but at a higher risk. The analysis
below shows that our major investments are in Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs), and the banking and property sectors, which are generally less
volatile and provide a good yield.

TrustFund
Fund Investment
Investment Holdings
Mix)
andand
Holdings
Details
Trust
HoldingsBy
BySector
Sector(Percentage
(Percentage
Mix)
Holdings
Details
An analysis of the Trust Fund by sector/industry and the companies in which the Trust Fund is holding shares/units as at 31 December 2020 in each
of the sectors is as follows:

Trust Fund By Sector ($)
Sector and Company Name

Value (S’000)

CASH

595

Banking
DBS Bank

999

OCBC Bank

691

UOB Bank

850

Property
City Developments

399

Capitaland

513

Commercial REITs
Ascott Res Trust

270

CapitaLand Int Com Trust

374

Mapletree Com Trust

319

Mapletree GCC Trust

2

Telecoms
Singtel

231

TOTAL

$5,243

Trust Fund By Sector (% Mix)

17%

Telecommunications
Cash

49%

18%
Property

11%

5%
Commercial REITS
Banking
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Statements
FY2020 was a challenging one for SKA, with the COVID-19 pandemic harshly impacting its operations.

In spite of the difficult times, SKA was concerned about and supportive of its tenants. Government support in the form to property tax rebates and
government cash grants were passed on to the tenants as mandated. In addition, SKA extended an additional $175,580 in relief to the tenants. This
was over and above the required one-month mandatory landlord relief imposed by the government.
The top five sources of revenue in 2020 were other income, rental from Moghul Mahal restaurant, revenue from the fruit machines, and rental from the
function rooms, and sports and facilities. The ‘Other Income’ category mentioned above included $386,942 in government grants, the Inland Revenue
Authority of Singapore’s wage credits and rental relief framework, which was accorded to the Association as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The total revenue for FY2020 was $915,348 (FY2019: $1,181,192), less the total operating
expenditure of $1,979,559 (FY2019: $2,317,565), resulting in a net loss before tax for the
year of $1,064,211 (FY2019: $1,136,373).

Income Breakdown

$

Other Income

461,982

Restaurant

146,625

Fruit Machines

135,255

Function Rooms

86,000

• Function Rooms: Revenue from the rental of SKA’s function rooms decreased by
$186,411 or 68 percent in FY2020 from a year earlier due to fewer events being held in
SKA. This was the result of government imposed restrictions on event organisation for
much of the year. SKA also witnessed several events being cancelled during the year
which also contributed to the decrease.

Sports & Facilities

35,391

Khalsa Kindergarten

16,351

Car Park

12,981

Gymnasium

10,440

• Restaurant: The rental income from Moghul Mahal Restaurant decreased by
$153,375 or 51 percent in FY2020 over FY2019. This was the result of the rental relief
framework and additional rental relief provided by SKA out of goodwill to compensate
for the closure of the restaurant during the Circuit Breaker as well as the decrease in
restaurant patrons and catering in 2020.

Membership Fees

10,323

The overall revenue for FY2020 decreased by $265,844 or 23 percent over FY2019. The
income categories that showed the largest decline, largely due to COVID-19, are explained
below.

TOTAL

915,348

Income Breakdown (Percentage)
Car Park - 1.4%
Khalsa Kindergarten - 1.8%
Sports and Facilities - 3.9%

Gymnasium - 1.1%
Membership Fees - 1.1%
Other Income - 50.5%

Function Rooms - 9.4%

Fruit Machines - 14.8%

Restaurant - 16%
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• Sports and Facilities: In FY2020, the revenue earned from sports and facilities
decreased by $121,070 or 77 percent from FY2019. Again, this was due to the rental
relief framework and additional rental relief provided by SKA out of goodwill, since
the futsal fields were closed for several months during the Circuit Breaker and limited
players allowed during the restricted phases.
• Fruit Machines: Similarly, the revenue from the fruit machines declined by $101,526
or 43 percent in FY2020, compared to FY2019. This was the result of government
restriction leading to fewer patrons being allowed into the fruit machine room. For
several months in the first half of the year, the fruit machines room was also closed
due to the Circuit Breaker.

Expenditure Breakdown
Depreciation Expenses

$
1,244,133

Staff Costs

183,671

Other Operating Expenses

116,528

Building Cleaning Services

103,200

Property Tax

90,000

Security Expenses

73,690

Repairs & Maintenance

61,761

Donations

38,000

Sports & Recreation

29,760

In FY2020, the Association’s overall expenditure decreased by $338,006 or 15 percent
from FY2019 (FY2020: $1,979,559 vs FY2019: $2,317,565).

Utilities

19,192

Ladies Wing Expenses

11,038

The expenditure categories witnessed the largest decline are explained below.

Cultural & Social Activities

The aforementioned decreases were offset by an increase in the ‘Other Income’ category
by $412,291 or 830 percent from FY2019. This increase was primarily due to government
grants received during the year.

8,586

TOTAL
1,979,559
• Sports and Recreation: In FY2020, there was a decrease of $122,625 or 80 percent in
these expenditures compared to FY2019. This decline was the result of fewer sporting
events organised during the year. The government imposed strict restrictions during the Circuit Breaker followed by limited activities during the
other phases.
• Cultural and Social Activities: The expenditure for cultural and social activities decreased by $53,204 or 86 percent in FY2020, compared to
FY2019. The Vesakhi Mela was cancelled due to the government’s imposed restrictions. Also, many of the activities were held online, leading to
savings for the Association.
• Cleaning Services: In FY2020, the expenditure for building and cleaning services decreased by $48,720 or 32 percent over FY2019. This was the
outcome of fewer events being held during the year, thereby requiring lesser cleaning services at the Association. We also negotiated the monthly
servicing fee with the contracted company.
• Utilities: The expenditure on utilities also declined by $29,870 or 61 percent in FY2020, compared to from FY2019. Again, this was due to the
decrease in the number of bookings and events during the year.

Expenditure Breakdown (Percentage)
Utilities - 1.1%
Sports & Recreation - 1.5%
Donations - 1.9%
Repairs & Maintenance - 3.1%
Security Expenses - 3.7%
Property Tax - 4.5%
Building Cleaning
Services - 5.2%
Other Operating
Expenses - 5.9%
Staff
Costs - 9.3%

SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION
1 9 31

Ladies Wing Expenses - 0.6%
Cultural & Social Activities - 0.5%
Depreciation
Expenses - 62.8%
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Statement by the Management Committee
SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION AND ITS TRUSTEES
In the opinion of the Management Committee,
(a)

the accompanying statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of
changes in funds, statement of cash flows, and notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Singapore Khalsa Association (the “Association”) and its Trustees as at 31 December 2020 and of the financial
performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Association and its Trustees for the reporting year ended on that date; and

(b)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Association and its Trustees will be able to pay
its debts as and when they fall due.

The Management Committee approved and authorised these financial statements on the date of this statement.

On behalf of the Management Committee

Mr Hernaikh Singh				Ms Ezrynn Kaur Charl
President						General Treasurer

9 June 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION AND ITS TRUSTEES
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Singapore Khalsa Association (the “Association”) and its Trustees, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the reporting year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act,
Chapter 311 (the “Act”) and the Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRS”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Association and its Trustees as at 31 December 2020 and of the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows
of the Association and its Trustees for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Association and its Trustees in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the statement by the management committee,
but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions
of the Act and FRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability
of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Association and its Trustees’ ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Association and its Trustees, or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Association and its Trustees’ financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:
a)

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

b)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Association and its Trustees’
internal control.

c)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont’d)
d)

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Association and its Trustees’ ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Association and its Trustees to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In our opinion:
(i)

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Association and its Trustees have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(ii)

there are no profits from private lotteries accrued to any individuals and also no commission either in money or money’s worth
including by way of free tickets or chances was paid in respect of the sales tickets or chances.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ng Thiam Soon.

RSM Chio Lim LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

9 June 2021
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–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(1,184,150)
(1,184,150)
–
(1,184,150)

460,397
915,348
(795,409)
119,939
(64,912)
55,027

Net surplus/(deficit)

Income tax expense

19

9

10

Donations for building fund

Other income

Expenditure

(1,184,150)

–

–

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

375,091

Net surplus/(deficit) after fund transfer

–
320,064

19

–
(1,184,150)

–
55,027

Appropriation to Singapore Khalsa
Association

Transfer to lease fund

Net (deficit)/surplus before transfer

Fair value changes on equity
instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”), net of tax

12

146,625

8

Takings from restaurant, net

Net (deficit)/surplus after income tax

10,440

Takings from gymnasium, net
–

12,981

Takings from car park, net

737

35,391
700

7

Takings from sports and facilities, net

16,351

Takings from dance studios, net

6

Takings from khalsa kindergarten, net

86,000

Takings from board room, net

5

Takings from function halls, net

100,000

–

100,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

148
135,255

Interest income

4

–

Dividend income

Takings from fruit machines, net

10,323

Membership fees
–

$
–

$

$

Lease
fund

–

Building
fund

General
fund

–

Income

Note

Year Ended 31 December 2020

(829,213)

(320,064)

(100,000)

(409,149)

(518,390)

109,241

–

109,241

(8,050)

117,291

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

3,245

114,046

(1,538,272)

–

–

(1,538,272)

(518,390)

(1,019,882)

(64,912)

(954,970)

(1,987,609)

460,397
1,032,639

–

146,625

10,440

12,981

737

700

35,391

16,351

86,000

135,255

3,393

114,046

10,323

$

$
–

2020

Trust fund
retained by
SKA Trustees

26,238

–

–

26,238

–

26,238

(21,045)

47,283

(1,133,909)

1,181,192

46,371

622

300,000

14,400

39,436

6,881

2,635

156,461

65,082

272,411

236,781

63

–

40,049

$

General
fund

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(1,183,656)

–

–

(1,183,656)

–

(1,183,656)

–

(1,183,656)
(1,183,656)

$

Building
fund

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

100,000

–

100,000

$

Lease
fund

–

792,647

–

(100,000)

892,647

665,648

226,999

–

(11,018)
226,999

238,017

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

10,513

227,504

$

Trust fund
retained by
SKA Trustees

(264,771)

–

–

(264,771)

665,648

(930,419)

(21,045)

(909,374)

(2,328,583)

1,419,209

46,371

622

300,000

14,400

39,436

6,881

2,635

156,461

65,082

272,411

236,781

10,576

227,504

40,049

$

2019
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As at 31 December 2020

Note

2020

2019

$

$

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

13

8,613,518

9,668,858

Right-of-use assets

14

192,707

–

Other financial assets

15

4,647,412

4,868,102

13,453,637

14,536,960

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Other receivables

16

189,805

48,026

Other assets

17

2,434

2,313

Cash and cash equivalents

18

1,210,425

1,549,709

1,402,664

1,600,048

14,856,301

16,137,008

Total current assets
Total assets

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES
Funds
General fund

19

757,375

382,284

Building fund

19

8,691,640

9,875,790

Lease fund

19

925,000

825,000

Trust fund retained by SKA Trustees

19

2,435,817

2,700,860

Fair value reserve
Total funds

1,303,940

1,868,110

14,113,772

15,652,044

105,450

–

105,450

–

50,092

38,721

94,209

–

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

20

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Income tax payable
Lease liabilities

20

Trade and other payables

21

492,778

446,243

Total current liabilities

637,079

484,964

Total liabilities

742,529

484,964

14,856,301

16,137,008

Total funds and liabilities

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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382,284

–

Transfer from fair value reserve on disposal of equity instruments

Closing balance at 31 December 2019

–

26,238

Net (deficit)/surplus for the year

Fair value changes on equity instruments at FVTOCI

356,046

Opening balance at 1 January 2019

Previous period:

757,375

Closing balance at 31 December 2020

–

Transfer to lease fund
320,064

–

Transfer from fair value reserve on disposal of equity instruments

Appropriation to Singapore Khalsa Association

–

Fair value changes on equity instruments at FVTOCI

55,027

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year

9,875,790

–

–

–

(1,183,656)

11,059,446

8,691,640

–

–

–

–

(1,184,150)

9,875,790

$

$
382,284

Building
fund

General
fund

Opening balance at 1 January 2020

Current year:

Year Ended 31 December 2020

Statement of Changes in Funds

825,000

100,000

–

–

–

725,000

925,000

–

100,000

–

–

–

825,000

$

Lease
fund

2,700,860

(100,000)

143,199

–

226,999

2,430,662

2,435,817

(320,064)

(100,000)

45,780

–

109,241

1,868,110

–

(143,199)

665,648

–

1,345,661

1,303,940

–

–

(45,780)

(518,390)

–

1,868,110

$

$
2,700,860

Fair value
reserve

Trust fund
retained by
SKA Trustees

15,652,044

–

–

665,648

(930,419)

15,916,815

14,113,772

–

–

–

(518,390)

(1,019,882)

15,652,044

$

Total
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Statement of Cash Flows 			
YEAR ENDED 31 December 2020

2020

2019

$

$

(954,970)

(909,374)

(114,046)

(227,504)

11,917

–

Cash flows from operating activities
Net deficit before tax
Adjustments for:
Dividend income
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

1,270,706

1,271,280

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

96,353

82,017

Interest income

(3,393)

(10,576)

Interest expense

12,599

1,983

319,166

207,826

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital
Other receivables

(141,779)

(6,740)

(121)

(2,313)

46,535

104,218

Net cash flows from operations

223,801

302,991

Income taxes paid

(53,541)

(71,935)

Net cash flows from operating activities

170,260

231,056

(1,163,667)

(333,107)

Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets

865,967

937,935

Dividend received

114,046

227,504

(227,283)

(45,530)

3,393

10,612

(407,544)

797,414

(102,000)

(84,000)

(148)

(63)

Net cash flows used in financing activities

(102,148)

(84,063)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(339,432)

944,407

Cash and cash equivalents, statement of cash flows, beginning balance

1,539,195

594,788

Cash and cash equivalents, statement of cash flows,
ending balance (Note 18A)

1,199,763

1,539,195

Other assets
Trade and other payables

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of other financial assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Interest received
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities
Cash restricted in use

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2020
1.

General
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars. The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Management Committee on the date of statement by Management Committee. The Management Committee
have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
The principal activities of the Association are to promote and carry on amateur sports, social and cultural activities and also
promote and advance the education of students.
The principal activities of the Trustees are to hold and manage the investment of the Singapore Khalsa Association.
The registered office is: 2 Tessensohn Road, Singapore 217646. The Association and its Trustees are situated in Singapore.

Uncertainties relating to the Covid-19 pandemic
The Covid-19 pandemic and the aftermath of the pandemic has caused and continues to cause disruptions resulting in
uncertainties surrounding the Association and its Trustees’ principal activities which had and will continue to have an
adverse effect on its financial position, financial performance of operations, cash flows and prospects for the foreseeable
future. There is significant uncertainty around the medium to long term impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. Other entities are
also evolving and assets held by them may have material uncertainties and/or disclaimers regarding the impact of Co vid19. These uncertainties gave rise to difficulties in making an accurate assessment by management committee of the future
financial impacts on the Association and its Trustees. Management committee will continue to closely monitor the further
economic development and its impact. It is however reasonably probable that the Covid-19 pandemic will have an adverse
impact on the Association and its Trustees’ income and results for the next reporting year, the extent of which will depend on
how long the aftermath of the pandemic lasts.

Statement of compliance with financial reporting standards
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRS”)
and the related interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) as issued by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council.

Accounting convention
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention except where a financial
reporting standard requires an alternative treatment (such as fair values) as disclosed where appropriate in these financial
statements. The accounting policies in the financial reporting standards may not be applied when the effect of applying them
is not material. The disclosures required by financial reporting standards may not be provided if the information resulting
from that disclosure is not material.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting year. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Apart from those involving estimations, management has made judgements in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies. The areas requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgements, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed at the end of this footnote, where
applicable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements			
Year ended 31 December 2020
2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

2A.

Significant accounting policies
Revenue recognition
The financial reporting standard on revenue from contracts with customers establishes a five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer (which excludes estimates of
variable consideration that are subject to constraints, such as right of return exists, trade discounts, volume rebates and
changes to the transaction price arising from modifications), net of any related sales taxes and excluding any amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. An asset (goods or services) is transferred when or as the customer obtains control of
that asset. As a practical expedient the effects of any significant financing component is not adjusted if the payment for the
good or service will be within one year.
Short term services and other services
Revenue from service orders and term projects are recognised when the entity satisfies the performance obligation at a point
in time generally when the significant acts have been completed and when transfer of control occurs or for services that are
not significant transactions revenue is recognised as the services are provided.

Other income
Rental income
Rental income is recognised from operating leases as income on either a straight-line basis. Another systematic basis is
used if that basis is more representative of the pattern in which benefit from the use of the underlying asset is diminished.
Dividend income
Dividend from equity instruments is recognised in profit or loss only when the entity’s right to receive payment of the dividend
is established; it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the entity; and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits
Contributions to a defined contribution retirement benefit plan are recorded as an expense as they fall due. The entity’s legal
or constructive obligation is limited to the amount that it agrees to contribute to an independently administered fund (such as
the Central Provident Fund in Singapore, a government managed defined contribution retirement benefit plan). For employee
leave entitlement the expected cost of short-term employee benefits in the form of compensated absences is recognised
in the case of accumulating compensated absences, when the employees render service that increases their entitlement to
future compensated absences; and in the case of non-accumulating compensated absences, when the absences occur. A
liability for bonuses is recognised where the entity is contractually obliged or where there is constructive obligation based on
past practice.
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2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d)

2A.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Foreign currency transactions
The functional currency is the Singapore dollar as it reflects the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency at the rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
At each end of the reporting year, recorded monetary balances and balances measured at fair value that are denominated in
non-functional currencies are reported at the rates ruling at the end of the reporting year and fair value measurement dates
respectively. All realised and unrealised exchange adjustment gains and losses are dealt with in profit or loss except when a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. The presentation is in the functional currency.

Income tax
The income taxes are accounted using the asset and liability method that requires the recognition of taxes payable or
refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequence of events that have been
recognised in the financial statements or tax returns. The measurements of current and deferred tax liabilities and assets
are based on provisions of the enacted or substantially enacted tax laws; the effects of future changes in tax laws or rates
are not anticipated. Tax expense (tax income) is the aggregate amount included in the determination of profit or loss for the
reporting year in respect of current tax and deferred tax. Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or
as an expense in profit or loss unless the tax relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period outside
profit or loss. For such items recognised outside profit or loss the current tax and deferred tax are recognised (a) in other
comprehensive income if the tax is related to an item recognised in other comprehensive income and (b) directly in equity if
the tax is related to an item recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same income tax authority. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of
the reporting year and is reduced, if necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits that, based on available evidence, are not
expected to be realised. A deferred tax amount is recognised for all temporary differences, unless the deferred tax amount
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which (i) is not a business combination; and (ii) at the
time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost on initial recognition and after initial recognition at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line method to allocate the
gross carrying amounts of the assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives of each part of an item of
these assets. The annual rates of depreciation are as follows:
Leasehold building
Leasehold interest and expenses
Plant and equipment
Renovation

-

2%
3.33%
10% to 33.33%
10%

An asset is depreciated when it is available for use until it is derecognised even if during that period the item is idle. Fully
depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.
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2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d)

2A.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item and is recognised in profit or loss. The
residual value and the useful life of an asset is reviewed at least at each end of the reporting year and, if expectations
differ significantly from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate, and the
depreciation charge for the current and future periods are adjusted.
Cost also includes acquisition cost, borrowing cost capitalised and any cost directly attributable to bringing the asset or
component to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Subsequent costs are recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss when they are incurred.

Right-of-use assets
The right-of-use assets are accounted and presented as if they were owned such as property plant and equipment.

Leases
A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. A right-of-use asset is capitalised in the statement of financial position, measured at the
present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. A liability corresponding to the
capitalised lease is also recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred
and an estimate of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the earlier
of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term and an interest expense on the recognised
lease liability (included in finance costs). For short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as
personal computers and small office equipment) where an accounting policy choice exists under the lease standard, the lease
payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred on a straight line basis over the remaining lease term.

Lessor
As a lessor the reporting entity classifies each of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset and
it is presented in its statement of financial position as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
For a finance lease the finance income is recognised over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic
rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the lease. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset. Lease payments from operating leases
are recognised as income on either a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the term of the lease.
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2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d)

2A.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Impairment of non-financial assets
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, an annual impairment test is performed at the same time every
year on an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or an intangible asset not yet available for use. The carrying amount
of other non-financial assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting year for indications of impairment and where an asset
is impaired, it is written down through profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The impairment loss is the excess
of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount and is recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable amount of an asset
or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. When the fair value less
costs of disposal method is used, any available recent market transactions are taken into consideration. When the value in
use method is adopted, in assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). At each end of the reporting year non-financial assets other than goodwill
with impairment loss recognised in prior periods are assessed for possible reversal of the impairment. An impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
measured, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the entity
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All other financial instruments (including regular-way
purchases and sales of financial assets) are recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting or
settlement date accounting. A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the entity neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. A financial liability
is removed from the statement of financial position when, and only when, it is extinguished, that is, when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. At initial recognition the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
1 9 31

Page 62

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements			
Year ended 31 December 2020
2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d)

2A.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Financial instruments (cont’d)
Classification and measurement of financial assets
1.

Financial asset classified as measured at amortised cost:
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), that is (a) the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to
hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and (b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Typically
trade and other receivables, bank and cash balances are classified in this category.

2.

Financial asset that is a debt asset instrument classified as measured at FVTOCI:
There were no financial assets classified in this category at reporting year end date.

3.

Financial asset that is an equity investment measured at FVTOCI:
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, an irrevocably election may be made to
present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. Fair
value changes are recognised in OCI but dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. The gain or loss that is presented in OCI includes any related foreign
exchange component arising on non-monetary investments (e.g., equity instruments). On disposal, the cumulative fair
value changes are not recycled to profit or loss but remain in reserves within equity. The weighted average or specific
identification method is used when determining the cost basis of equities being disposed of.

4.

Financial asset classified as measured at FVTPL:
There were no financial assets classified in this category at reporting year end date.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL in either of the following circumstances: (1) the liabilities are managed,
evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis; or (2) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise. All other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Reclassification of any financial liability is not permitted.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include bank and cash balances, on demand deposits and any highly liquid debt instruments
purchased with an original maturity of three months or less. For the statement of cash flows the item includes cash and cash
equivalents less cash subject to restriction that form an integral part of cash management.

SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION
1 9 31

Page 63

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements			
Year ended 31 December 2020
2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d)

2A.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Fair value measurement
The fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, market observable
data to the extent possible is used. If the fair value of an asset or a liability is not directly observable, an estimate is made
using valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs
(e.g., by use of the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar items, discounted cash flow
analysis, or option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances). Inputs used are consistent with the
characteristics of the asset/liability that market participants would take into account. The entity’s intention to hold an asset
or to settle or otherwise fulfil a liability is not taken into account as relevant when measuring fair value.
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which the inputs to the
measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety: Level 1 fair value
measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2
fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). Level 3 fair value measurements
are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs). Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognised at the end of the
reporting period during which the change occurred.
The carrying values of current financial instruments approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these
instruments and the disclosures of fair value are not made when the carrying amount of current financial instruments is
a reasonable approximation of the fair value. The fair values of non-current financial instruments may not be disclosed
separately unless there are significant differences at the end of the reporting year and in the event the fair values are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

2B.

Other explanatory information
Provisions
A liability or provision is recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A provision is made using best estimates of the amount required in
settlement and where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount recognised is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense. Changes in estimates are reflected in profit or loss in the reporting year they occur.

2C.

Critical judgements, assumptions and estimation uncertainties
There were no critical judgements made in the process of applying the accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. There were no key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting year, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting year.
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3.

Related party relationships and transactions
The financial reporting standard on related party disclosures requires the reporting entity to disclose: (a) transactions with its
related parties; and (b) relationships between parents and subsidiaries irrespective of whether there have been transactions
between those related parties. A party is related to a party if the party controls, or is controlled by, or can significantly
influence or is significantly influenced by the other party.
It is not the normal practice for the members of the management committee or people connected with them, to receive
remuneration, or other benefits, from the Association for which they are responsible, or from institutions connected with the
Association.
There are no significant related party transactions for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

4.

Takings from fruit machines, net
2020

2019

$

$

1,560,530

2,378,870

(14,700)

(18,600)

(4,653)

(8,674)

Income:
Collections
Expenses:
Certification and verification fees
CPF and SDF
Depreciation of fruit machine

(26,573)

(27,848)

Private lottery duty and GST

(368,115)

(550,630)

Refreshments

(14,580)

(23,400)

Repairs and maintenance

(11,592)

(13,570)

(935,206)

(1,443,910)

(49,856)

(55,457)

135,255

236,781

2020

2019

$

$

Replenishment of coins and payouts to winners
Staff salaries and welfares

5.

Takings from functional halls, net

Income:
Bookings of hall – level 2

22,621

120,136

Bookings of hall – level 4

32,500

48,000

Bookings of hall – level 5

41,236

90,443

2,643

13,832

99,000

272,411

Functional hall – other

Expenses:
Rental income remissions
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6.

Takings from khalsa kindergarten, net
2020

2019

$

$

773,109

871,521

(446,071)

(403,013)

Bonus
CPF and SDF

(35,226)

(53,129)

(76,674)

(71,082)

Maintenance of premises

(26,952)

(40,549)

Curriculum Costs

(54,838)

(121,830)

Administrative Charges

(39,635)

(37,037)

Others

(77,362)

(79,799)

16,351

65,082

2020

2019

$

$

Managing agent fees Little League

174,000

120,000

Booking of Field (KMSM Pte Ltd)

102,000

85,000

3,537

8,477

Income:
Term fees and other related income
Expenses:
Salaries

7.

Takings from sports and facilities, net

Income:

Utilities recovered
Other sports and facilities income

9,868

35,461

289,405

248,938

Depreciation of turf

(96,353)

(82,017)

Interests

(12,599)

(1,983)

Utilities

(3,537)

(8,477)

(141,525)

–

(254,014)

(92,477)

35,391

156,461

Expenses:

Rental income remissions
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8.

Takings from restaurant, net
2020

2019

$

$

306,000

300,000

Income:
Restaurant
Utilities recovered

3,85

939

306,385

300,939

(385)

(939)

(159,375)

–

(159,760)

(939)

146,625

300,000

2020

2019

$

$

Expenses:
Utilities
Rental income remissions

9.

Other income

Income:
Government grant:
- Property tax rebate

90,000

–

- Job support scheme (#a)

205,149

–

- Government cash grant

60,000

–

- Others

51,162

–

IRAS wages credits

18,093

1,393

Rental relief

13,700

–

Others

22,293

44,978

460,397

46,371

#a

The purpose of the Job Support Scheme is to provide wage support to employers to help them retain their local
employees during this period of economic uncertainty amid Covid-19 for 17 months from April 2020 to August 2021.
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10.

Expenditure

Administration
Auditor’s remuneration
Accounting fee
Allocation of administrative expenses to khalsa kindergarten
Bank charges
Building cleaning services
CPF and SDF
Depreciation expenses
Donations:
- SSEF
- SWC
- Guru Nanak Dev Ji 550th Birthday
- Naam Ras
- YSA High Tea
General expenses
Insurance
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Lift maintenance
Medical expenses
Meeting expenses
Office equipment maintenance
Government penalty
Professional fees
Property tax
Repairs and maintenance
Salaries and wages
Security expenses
Small value assets
Staff welfare
Stationery, postage and printing
Telephone and telex
Temporary occupation licence
Transport
Utilities
Website expense
Activities
Cultural and social activities, net:
- Mela
- Deepavali
- Others
Ladies wing activities, net:
- International Women’s Day
- Other activities
Sports and recreation, net:
- Gurdwara Cup
- Sports (hockey, soccer, netball)
Total

2020
$

2019
$

18,586
22,011
(72,000)
8,817
103,200
20,356
1,244,133

17,608
22,643
(72,000)
11,713
151,920
26,177
1,243,432

18,000
12,000
–
7,500
500
13,285
23,431
11,917
25,204
–
4,546
7,781
1,405
5,250
90,000
61,761
163,315
73,690
–
–
32,968
8,518
8,160
1,487
19,192
3,212
1,938,225

18,000
12,682
25,000
–
–
23,528
20,032
–
28,388
36
8,763
8,644
–
3,250
90,000
71,665
179,411
78,000
4,210
1,498
31,586
8,948
10,116
3,819
49,062
3,839
2,081,970

–
4,775
3,811

55,664
6,126
–

–
11,038

8,659
23,779

–
29,760
49,384
1,987,609

30,954
121,431
246,613
2,328,583
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11.

12.

Employee benefits expense
2020

2019

$

$

Employee benefits expense

699,508

691,010

Contributions to defined contribution plan

101,683

105,933

Total employee benefits expense

801,191

796,943

2020

2019

$

$

Income tax expense
Components of tax expense recognised in profit or loss include:

Current tax expense
Current tax expense

50,092

38,721

Under/(over) adjustments in respect of prior periods

14,820

(17,676)

Total income tax expense

64,912

21,045

The income tax in profit or loss varied from the amount of income tax amount determined by applying the Singapore statutory
income tax rate of 17% (2019: 17%) to net deficit before income tax as a result of the following differences:
2020
$

$

Net deficit before income tax

(954,970)

(909,374)

Income tax benefit at the statutory rate

(162,345)

(154,594)

Non-deductible expenses

229,862

210,740

Stepped income exemption and rebate

(17,425)

(17,425)

Under/(over) adjustments to tax in respect of previous year

14,820

(17,676)

Total income tax expense

64,912

21,045

SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION
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2019

14,072

84,431
70,359
56,287

At 1 January 2019

At 31 December 2020

647,303

At 31 December 2019

Carrying value:

At 31 December 2020

–

633,231

At 31 December 2019

Depreciation for the year

Disposals

757,967

14,072

Depreciation for the year

269,817

305,258

340,699

793,408

–

35,441

35,441

619,159

722,526

1,063,225

–

–

1,063,225

–

1,063,225

$

Leasehold
interest and
expense

At 1 January 2019

Accumulated depreciation:

703,590

–

Disposals

At 31 December 2020

–

703,590

–

Additions

At 31 December 2019

Additions

703,590

$

Leasehold
building

Property, plant and equipment

At 1 January 2019

Costs:

13.

Year ended 31 December 2020

162,447

197,587

214,998

180,037

(80,732)

37,043

223,726

38,111

185,615

342,484

(92,649)

13,820

421,313

20,700

400,613

$

Plant and
equipment

7,911,504

9,095,654

10,254,480

3,933,061

–

1,184,150

2,748,911

1,183,656

1,565,255

11,844,565

–

–

11,844,565

24,830

11,819,735

$

Renovation

Notes to the Financial Statements			

–

–

–

213,463

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

213,463

–

213,463

$

Construction
in progress

8,613,518

9,668,858

10,894,608

5,553,809

(80,732)

1,270,706

4,363,835

1,271,280

3,092,555

14,167,327

(92,649)

227,283

14,032,693

45,530

13,987,163

$

Total
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13.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
The construction in progress is funded by the building fund and trust fund in Note 19.
The depreciation expense is charged as follows:
2020
$
Takings from fruit machines
Expenditure

14.

2019
$

26,573

27,848

1,244,133

1,243,432

1,270,706

1,271,280

Right-of-use assets
The right-of-use assets in the statement of financial position. The details are as follows:
Licence
$
Cost:
At 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019

82,017

Additions

289,060

Disposals

(82,017)

At 31 December 2020

289,060

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2019

–

Depreciation for the year

82,017

At 31 December 2019

82,017

Depreciation for the year

96,353

Disposals
At 31 December 2020

(82,017)
96,353

Net carrying value:
At 1 January 2019

82,017

At 31 December 2019

–

At 31 December 2020

192,707

The depreciation expense is charged entirely to takings from sports and facilities.
Other information about the leasing activities relating to the right-to-use assets are summarised as follows:
Licence
Number of right-to-use assets
Remaining term – range

2 years

Remaining term – average

2 years
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1 9 31

1

Page 71

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements			
Year ended 31 December 2020
14.

Right-of-use assets (cont’d)
There are restrictions or covenants imposed by the leases to sublet the asset to another party. The right-of-use asset can
only be used by the lessee. Unless permitted by the owner, the lease prohibits from selling or pledging the underlying
leased assets as security. Typically the leases are either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive
termination fee. There are usually no options to purchase or for extension; there are no variable payments linked to an index.

15.

Other financial assets

Balance is made up of:
Investment in equity instruments at FVTOCI

15A.

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

%

%

4,647,412

4,868,102

100

100

Movements in balances
2020

2019

$

$

Fair value at beginning of year

4,868,102

4,807,282

Additions

1,163,667

333,107

Disposals

(865,967)

(772,949)

(Decrease)/increase in FVTOCI

(518,390)

500,662

Fair value at end of year

4,647,412

4,868,102

Movements during the year:

During the reporting year certain investments in equity instruments measured at FVTOCI were derecognised to realise the
gains. The fair value of the investments at the date of derecognition was $865,967 (2019: $772,949). The cumulative fair
value change of the disposed equity instruments of $45,780 (2019: $143,199) was transferred to trust fund retained by SKA
Trustees.

15B.

Disclosures relating to investments in equity shares at FVTOCI
The information gives a summary of the significant sector concentrations within the investment portfolio:
Level

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

%

%

1

965,164

692,256

20.8

14.2

Property industry: Singapore

1

911,836

1,110,000

19.6

22.8

Finance industry: Singapore

1

2,539,412

2,728,846

54.6

56.1

Telecommunication industry: Singapore

1

231,000

337,000

5.0

6.9

4,647,412

4,868,102

100.0

100.0

Investments managed by fund manager:
Real estate investment trust
Quoted equity shares:

Total

The fair values of quoted equity investments are based on prices in an active market (Level 1) at the end of the reporting year.
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15.

Other financial assets (cont’d)

15C.

Sensitivity analysis for price risk of equity shares at FVTOCI
There are investments in equity shares or similar instruments. Such investments are exposed to both currency risk and market
price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of the investment securities. Sensitivity analysis: The effect is as
follows:

A hypothetical 10% increase in the market index of quoted equity
shares at FVTOCI would have an effect on fair value of

2020

2019

$

$

464,741

486,810

For similar price decrease in the fair value of the above financial assets, there would be comparable impacts in the opposite
direction.
This figures does not reflect the currency risk, which has been considered in the foreign currency risk analysis section only.
The hypothetical changes in basis points are not based on observable market date (unobservable inputs).

16.

Other receivables
2020

2019

$

$

Deposits to secure services

45,600

45,600

Fees and rental receivables

79,125

2,426

Cash grant receivables

60,000

–

5,080

–

189,805

48,026

Other receivables

Other receivables set out above are subject to the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model under the financial reporting standard
on financial instruments. Other receivables at amortised cost that can be graded as low risk individually are considered
to have low credit risk. At end of first reporting year, a loss allowance is recognised at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
because there has not been significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. As at end of reporting year, no loss
allowance is necessary.
Other receivables are normally with no fixed terms and therefore there is no maturity.

17.

Other assets

Prepayments
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2019

$

$

2,434
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18.

Cash and cash equivalents
2020

2019

$

$

- Association

604,710

435,619

- Trustees

595,053

1,103,576

Not restricted in use

Restricted in use (#)
Cash at end of the year
Interest earning balances

(#)

10,662

10,514

1,210,425

1,549,709

10,662

10,514

Included in the amount restricted in use, is an amount of $10,662 (2019: $10,514) held by the bank to cover the bank
guarantee issued.

The interest earning balances are not significant.

18A.

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement:

Amounts as shown above
Cash restricted in use over 3 months
Cash and cash equivalents for statement of cash flows purposes at end of
the year

18B.

2020

2019

$

$

1,210,425

1,549,709

(10,662)

(10,514)

1,199,763

1,539,195

Non-cash transactions:
There are no reconciliation amounts for the non-cash changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

19.

Funds
There are no reconciliation amounts for the non-cash changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.
Funds of the Association include the following:
(i)

General fund
General Fund comprises of the accumulated surpluses generated from the current financial year and previous
financial periods, since the inception of the Association.

(ii)

Building fund - restricted
Building Fund is a reserve set up to meet renovation costs relating to the building of the Association. The renovation
of the building was completed during the reporting year ended 31 December 2017. Building fund will gradually be
utilised at an amount equal to depreciation charges of the renovation annually.
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19.

Funds (cont’d)
(iii)

Lease fund
Lease fund is maintained to be used for future redevelopment purposes of the leasehold property occupied by SKA.
The current land lease will expire in June 2028.

(iv)

Trust fund retained by SKA Trustees
Trust fund retained by SKA Trustees is retained surpluses generated from Trustees’ available-for-sale assets during
the current and previous financial years.

20.

Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
2020

2019

$

$

Lease liability, Current
Lease liability, Non-current

94,209

–

105,450

–

199,659

–

The lease liability above does not include the short-term leases of less than 12 months and leases of low-value underlying
assets. There is no variable lease payment for the leases.
Lease liabilities under operating leases are secured by the right-of-use assets because these will revert to the lessor in the
event of default.
A summary of the maturity analysis of lease liabilities that shows the remaining contractual maturities is as follows:
Minimum payments

Finance charges

$

$

Present value
$

2020
Minimum lease payments payable:
Not later than one year

102,000

(7,791)

94,209

Between 1 and 2 years

108,000

(2,550)

105,450

210,000

(10,341)

199,659

Total cash outflows from leases are shown in the statement of cash flows. The related right-of-use-assets are disclosed in
Note 14.
There were no future cash outflows to which the lessee is potentially exposed that are not reflected in the measurement of
lease liabilities above.
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21.

Trade and other payables
2020

2019

$

$

Outside parties and accrued liabilities

290,880

216,597

Trade payables – subtotal

290,880

216,597

137,032

139,856

61,537

89,790

3,329

–

Other payables – subtotal

201,898

229,646

Total trade and other payables

492,778

446,243

Trade payables:

Other payables:
Deferred income
Refundable deposits
Outside parties

22.

Capital commitments
Estimated amounts committed at end of reporting year for future capital expenditure but not recognised in the financial
statements are as follows:

Commitments for renovation

23.

2020

2019

$

$

154,237

-

Operating lease income commitments - as lessor
A maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease amounts to be received on an annual basis for a minimum of each of the first
five years and a total of the amounts for the remaining years is as follows:
2020

2019

$

$

Not later than one year

587,790

465,450

Between 1 and 2 years

520,940

408,000

Between 2 and 3 years

21,580

297,500

336,438

613,717

Rental income for the year

Operating lease income represents rental income receivable for certain of the Association’s property premises. The lease
term is negotiated for an average term of one to three years.
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24.

Financial instruments: information on financial risks

24A.

Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The following table categorises the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded at the end of the reporting
year:
2020

2019

$

$

Financial assets at amortised cost

1,400,230

1,597,735

Financial assets that is an equity investment at FVTOCI

4,647,412

4,868,102

At end of the year

6,047,642

6,465,837

506,227

306,387

Financial assets:

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

24B.

Financial risk management
The main purpose for holding or issuing financial instruments is to raise and manage the finances for the entity’s operating,
investing and financing activities. There are exposures to the financial risks on the financial instruments such as credit risk,
liquidity risk and market risk comprising interest rate, currency risk and price risk exposures. Management has certain practices
for the management of financial risks. However, these are not documented in formal written documents. The following
guidelines are followed: All financial risk management activities are carried out and monitored by senior management staff.
All financial risk management activities are carried out following good market practices.
There have been no changes to the exposures to risk; the objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk and the
methods used to measure the risk.

24C.

Fair value of financial instruments
The analyses of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1
to 3 are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. These include both the significant financial instruments
stated at amortised cost and at fair value in the statement of financial position. The carrying values of current financial
instruments approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these instruments and the disclosures of fair value
are not made when the carrying amount of current financial instruments is a reasonable approximation of the fair value.

24D.

Credit risk on financial assets
Financial assets that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk and failures by counterparties to discharge their
obligations in full or in a timely manner consist principally of cash balances with banks, cash equivalents, and certain other
financial assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the total of the fair value of the financial assets at the end of the
reporting year. Credit risk on cash balances with banks and any other financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are entities with acceptable credit ratings. Credit risk on other financial assets is limited because the counter parties
are entities with acceptable credit ratings.
Note 18 discloses the maturity of the cash and cash equivalents balances.
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24.

Financial instruments: information on financial risks (cont’d)

24E.

Liquidity risk – financial liabilities maturity analysis
The following table analyses financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity (contractual and undiscounted cash flows):
Less than 1 year
Non-derivative financial liabilities:

$

1 – 3 years
$

Total
$

2020:
Gross lease liabilities

102,000

108,000

210,000

Trade and other payables

306,568

–

306,568

408,568

108,000

516,568

306,387

–

306,387

2019:
Trade and other payables

Liquidity risk refers to the difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. It is expected that all the liabilities will be paid at their contractual maturity. The average
credit period taken to settle trade payables is about 30 days (2019: 30 days). In order to meet such cash commitments the
operating activity is expected to generate sufficient cash inflows.

24F.

Interest rate risk
The effect of interest rate risk is not significant to the Association and its Trustees.

24G.

Foreign currency risk
The effect of foreign currency risk is not significant to the Association and its Trustees.

24H.

Equity price risk
There are investments in equity shares or similar instruments. As a result, such investments are exposed to both currency
risk and market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of the investment securities. The fair values of these
equity shares and sensitivity analysis are disclosed in Note 15C.

25.

Changes and adoption of financial reporting standards
For the current reporting year new or revised FRS were issued by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council. Those
applicable to the Association and its Trustees are listed below. Those applicable new or revised standards did not require
any significant modification of the measurement methods or the presentation in the financial statements.
FRS No.

FRS 103
FRS 1 and 8
		
FRS 116

Title
Definition of a Business – Amendments
Definition of Material – Amendments
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions – Amendment
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26.

New or amended standards in issue but not yet effective
For the future reporting years certain new or revised FRS were issued by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council and
these will only be effective for future reporting years. Those applicable to the reporting entity for future reporting years are
listed below. The transfer to the applicable new or revised standards from the effective dates is not expected to result in any
significant modification of the measurement methods or the presentation in the financial statements for the following year
from the known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing the possible impact that application of the new or
revised standards may have on the Association and its Trustees’ financial statements in the period of initial application.

FRS No.
Title
			
FRS 1
		
FRS 103
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Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current – Amendments
Definition of a Business - Reference to the
Conceptual Framework – Amendments

Effective date for periods
beginning on or after
1 January 2023
1 January 2022
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Statement by the Board of Trustees
SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION TRUSTEES
In the opinion of the Board of Trustees,
(a)

the accompanying statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of
changes in funds, statement of cash flows, and notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Singapore Khalsa Association Trustees (“Trustees”) as at 31 December 2020 and of the financial performance,
changes in funds and cash flows of the Trustees for the reporting year ended on that date; and

(b)

at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trustees will be able to pay its debts as and when
they fall due.

The Board of Trustees approved and authorised these financial statements on the date of this statement.

On behalf of the Board of Trustees

Mr Gurdip Singh Usma			 Colonel (Retired) Gurcharan Singh Sekhon
Chairperson					Vice Chairperson

9 June 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report

to the Members of SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION TRUSTEES
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Singapore Khalsa Association Trustees (“Trustees”), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement
of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the reporting year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Financial
Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRS”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trustees as at 31 December
2020 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Trustees for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Trustees in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics
for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the statement by the Board of Trustees, but
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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to the Members of SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION TRUSTEES
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions
of the Act and the FRS, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability
of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Trustees’ ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Trustees or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Trustees’ financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:
a)

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

b)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trustees’ internal control.

c)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
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to the Members of SINGAPORE KHALSA ASSOCIATION TRUSTEES
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont’d)
d)

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Trustees’ ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Trustees to cease to continue as a going concern.

e)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ng Thiam Soon.

RSM Chio Lim LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

9 June 2021
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income
Year Ended 31 December 2020

2020

2019

$

$

114,046

227,504

3,245

10,513

117,291

238,017

(8,050)

(10,512)

–

(506)

(8,050)

(11,018)

109,241

226,999

Fair value changes on equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), net of tax

(518,390)

665,648

Net (deficit)/surplus before appropriation and transfer

(409,149)

892,647

Transfer to lease fund

(100,000)

(100,000)

Appropriation to Singapore Khalsa Association

(320,064)

–

Net (deficit)/surplus after appropriation and transfer

(829,213)

792,647

Income
Dividend income
Interest income
Expenditure
Agent’s fees
Other expenses

Net surplus

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2020

Note

2020

2019

$

$

4,647,412

4,868,102

4,647,412

4,868,102

595,053

1,103,576

595,053

1,103,576

5,242,465

5,971,678

577,708

577,708

ASSETS
Non-current asset
Other financial assets

4

Total non-current asset
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

5

Total current assets
Total assets

FUNDS
Capital – The Singapore Khalsa Association (“SKA”)
Funds
Lease fund

6

925,000

825,000

Trust fund retained by SKA Trustees

6

2,435,817

2,700,860

Fair value reserve

1,303,940

1,868,110

Total funds

4,664,757

5,393,970

Total funds

5,242,465

5,971,678

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Funds
Year Ended 31 December 2020

Capital

Lease
fund

Trust fund
retained by
SKA Trustees

Fair value
reserve

Total

$

$

$

$

$

577,708

825,000

2,700,860

1,868,110

5,971,678

Net surplus for the year

–

–

109,241

–

109,241

Fair value changes on equity instruments at FVTOCI

–

–

–

(518,390)

(518,390)

Current year:
Opening balance at 1 January 2020

Transfer from fair value reserve on
disposal of equity instruments

–

–

45,780

(45,780)

–

Transfer to lease fund

–

100,000

(100,000)

–

–

Appropriation to Singapore Khalsa Association

–

–

(320,064)

–

(320,064)

577,708

925,000

2,435,817

1,303,940

5,242,465

577,708

725,000

2,430,662

1,345,661

5,079,031

Net surplus for the year

–

–

226,999

–

226,999

Fair value changes on equity instruments at FVTOCI

–

–

–

665,648

665,648

Closing balance at 31 December 2020
Previous year:
Opening balance at 1 January 2019

Transfer from fair value reserve on
disposal of equity instruments

–

–

143,199

(143,199)

–

Transfer to lease fund

–

100,000

(100,000)

–

–

577,708

825,000

2,700,860

1,868,110

5,971,678

Closing balance at 31 December 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows 			
Year Ended 31 December 2020

2020

2019

$

$

109,241

226,999

(3,245)

(10,513)

(114,046)

(227,504)

–

37

(8,050)

(468)

(1,163,667)

(333,107)

Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets

865,967

937,935

Dividends received

114,046

227,504

3,245

10,513

(180,409)

832,332

Appropriation to Singapore Khalsa Association

(320,064)

–

Net cash flows used in financing activities

(320,064)

–

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(508,523)

831,864

Cash and cash equivalents, statement of cash flows, beginning balance

1,103,576

271,712

595,053

1,103,576

Cash flows from operating activities
Net surplus
Interest income
Dividend income
Other receivables
Net cash flows used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of other financial assets

Interest received
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents, statement of cash flows,
ending balance (Note 5)
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Notes to the Financial Statements			
Year ended 31 December 2020
1.

General
The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars. The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Trustees on the date of statement by Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees have the power to amend
and reissue the financial statements.
The principal activities of the Trustees are to hold and manage the investment of the Singapore Khalsa Association.
The registered office is: 2 Tessensohn Road, Singapore 217646. The Trustees is situated in Singapore.

Uncertainties relating to the Covid-19 pandemic
The Covid-19 pandemic and the aftermath of the pandemic has caused and continues to cause disruptions resulting in
uncertainties surrounding the Trustees’ principal activities which had and will continue to have an adverse effect on its
financial position, financial performance of operations, cash flows and prospects for the foreseeable future. There is significant
uncertainty around the medium to long term impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. Other entities are also evolving and assets
held by them may have material uncertainties and/or disclaimers regarding the impact of Covid-19. These uncertainties gave
rise to difficulties in making an accurate assessment by Trustees members of the future financial impacts on the Trustees.
Trustees members will continue to closely monitor the further economic development and its impact. It is however reasonably
probable that the Covid-19 pandemic will have an adverse impact on the Trustees’s income and results for the next reporting
year, the extent of which will depend on how long the aftermath of the pandemic lasts.

Statement of compliance with financial reporting standards
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRS”)
and the related interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) as issued by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council.

Accounting convention
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention except where a financial
reporting standard requires an alternative treatment (such as fair values) as disclosed where appropriate in these financial
statements. The accounting policies in the financial reporting standards may not be applied when the effect of applying them
is not material. The disclosures required by financial reporting standards may not be provided if the information resulting from
that disclosure is not material.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting year. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Apart from those involving estimations, management has made judgements in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies. The areas requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgements, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed at the end of this footnote, where
applicable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements			
Year ended 31 December 2020
2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

2A.

Significant accounting policies
Revenue recognition
Dividend from equity instruments is recognised in profit or loss only when the entity’s right to receive payment of the dividend
is established; it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the entity; and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably. This is usually ex-dividend date for quoted shares.

Foreign currency transactions
The functional currency is the Singapore dollar as it reflects the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency at the rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
At each end of the reporting year, recorded monetary balances and balances measured at fair value that are denominated in
non-functional currencies are reported at the rates ruling at the end of the reporting year and fair value measurement dates
respectively. All realised and unrealised exchange adjustment gains and losses are dealt with in profit or loss except when a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. The presentation is in the functional currency.

Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the entity
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases
and sales of financial assets) are recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting or settlement date
accounting. A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the entity neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. A financial liability is removed from the
statement of financial position when, and only when, it is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged or cancelled or expires.
At initial recognition the financial asset or financial liability is measured at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a
financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements			
Year ended 31 December 2020
2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

2A.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Financial instruments (cont’d)
Classification and measurement of financial assets
1.

Financial asset classified as measured at amortised cost:
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), that is (a) the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to
hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and (b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Typically
trade and other receivables, bank and cash balances are classified in this category.

2.

Financial asset that is a debt asset instrument classified as measured at FVTOCI:
There were no financial assets classified in this category at reporting year end date.

3.

Financial asset that is an equity investment measured at FVTOCI:
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, an irrevocably election may be made to
present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. Fair
value changes are recognised in OCI but dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. The gain or loss that is presented in OCI includes any related foreign
exchange component arising on non-monetary investments (e.g., equity instruments). On disposal, the cumulative fair
value changes are not recycled to profit or loss but remain in reserves within equity. The weighted average or specific
identification method is used when determining the cost basis of equities being disposed of.

4.

Financial asset classified as measured at FVTPL:
There were no financial assets classified in this category at reporting year end date.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include bank and cash balances, on demand deposits and any highly liquid debt instruments
purchased with an original maturity of three months or less. For the statement of cash flows the item includes cash and cash
equivalents less cash subject to restriction that form an integral part of cash management.
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Notes to the Financial Statements			
Year ended 31 December 2020
2.

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (cont’d)
Fair value measurement
The fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, market observable
data to the extent possible is used. If the fair value of an asset or a liability is not directly observable, an estimate is made
using valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs
(e.g., by use of the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar items, discounted cash flow
analysis, or option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances). Inputs used are consistent with the
characteristics of the asset/liability that market participants would take into account. The entity’s intention to hold an asset
or to settle or otherwise fulfil a liability is not taken into account as relevant when measuring fair value.
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which the inputs to the
measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety: Level 1 fair value
measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2
fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). Level 3 fair value measurements
are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs). Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognised at the end of the
reporting period during which the change occurred.
The carrying values of current financial instruments approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these
instruments and the disclosures of fair value are not made when the carrying amount of current financial instruments is
a reasonable approximation of the fair value. The fair values of non-current financial instruments may not be disclosed
separately unless there are significant differences at the end of the reporting year and in the event the fair values are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

2B.

Critical judgements, assumptions and estimation uncertainties
There were no critical judgements made in the process of applying the accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. There were no key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting year, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting year.

3.

Related party relationships and transactions
The financial reporting standard on related party disclosures requires the reporting entity to disclose: (a) transactions with its
related parties; and (b) relationships between parents and subsidiaries irrespective of whether there have been transactions
between those related parties. A party is related to a party if the party controls, or is controlled by, or can significantly
influence or is significantly influenced by the other party.
It is not the normal practice for the members of the Board of Trustees or people connected with them, to receive remuneration,
or other benefits, from the Trustees for which they are responsible, or from institutions connected with the Trustees.
There are no significant related party transactions for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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4.

Other financial assets

Balance is made up of:
Investm uity instruments at FVTOCI

4A.

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

%

%

4,647,412

4,868,102

100

100

Movements in balances
2020

2019

$

$

Fair value at beginning of year

4,868,102

4,807,282

Additions

1,163,667

333,107

Disposals

(865,967)

(772,949)

(Decrease)/increase in FVTOCI

(518,390)

500,662

Fair value at end of year

4,647,412

4,868,102

Movements during the year:

During the reporting year certain investments in equity instruments measured at FVTOCI were derecognised to realise the
gains. The fair value of the investments at the date of derecognition was $865,967 (2019: $772,949). The cumulative fair
value change of the disposed equity instruments of $45,780 (2019: $143,199) was transferred to trust fund retained by SKA
Trustees.

4B.

Disclosures relating to investments in equity shares at FVTOCI
The information gives a summary of the significant sector concentrations within the investment portfolio:
Level

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

%

%

1

965,164

692,256

20.8

14.2

Property industry: Singapore

1

911,836

1,110,000

19.6

22.8

Finance industry: Singapore

1

2,539,412

2,728,846

54.6

56.1

Telecommunication industry: Singapore

1

231,000

337,000

5.0

6.9

4,647,412

4,868,102

100.0

100.0

Investments managed by fund manager:
Real estate investment trust
Quoted equity shares:

Total

The fair values of quoted equity investments are based on prices in an active market (Level 1) at the end of the reporting year.
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Year ended 31 December 2020
4.

Other financial assets (cont’d)

4C.

Sensitivity analysis for price risk of equity shares at FVTOCI
There are investments in equity shares or similar instruments. Such investments are exposed to both currency risk and market
price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of the investment securities. Sensitivity analysis: The effect is as
follows:

A hypothetical 10% increase in the market index of quoted equity
shares at FVTOCI would have an effect on fair value of

2020

2019

$

$

464,741

486,810

For similar price decrease in the fair value of the above financial assets, there would be comparable impacts in the opposite
direction.
This figures does not reflect the currency risk, which has been considered in the foreign currency risk analysis section only.
The hypothetical changes in basis points are not based on observable market date (unobservable inputs).

5.

Cash and cash equivalents

Not restricted in use

2020

2019

$

$

595,053

1,103,576

The interest earning balances are not significant.4

6.

Funds
Funds of the trustees include the following:
(i)

Lease fund
Lease fund is maintained to be used for future redevelopment purposes of the leasehold property occupied by SKA.
The current land lease will expire in June 2028.

(ii)

Trust fund retained by SKA Trustees
Trust fund retained by SKA Trustees is retained surpluses generated from Trustees’ Available-for-Sale Assets during
the current and previous financial years.
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7.

Financial instruments: information on financial risks

7A.

Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The following table categorises the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded at the end of the reporting
year:
2020

2019

$

$

595,053

1,103,576

Financial assets that is an equity investment at FVTOCI

4,647,412

4,868,102

At end of the year

5,242,465

5,971,678

Financial assets:
Financial assets at amortised cost

Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

7B.

Financial risk management
The main purpose for holding or issuing financial instruments is to raise and manage the finances for the entity’s operating,
investing and financing activities. There are exposures to the financial risks on the financial instruments such as credit
risk, liquidity risk and market risk comprising interest rate, currency risk and price risk exposures. The management has
certain practices for the management of financial risks. However, these are not documented in formal written documents.
The following guidelines are followed: All financial risk management activities are carried out and monitored by senior
management staff.
There have been no changes to the exposures to risk; the objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk and the
methods used to measure the risk.

7C.

Fair value of financial instruments
The analyses of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1
to 3 are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. These include both the significant financial instruments
stated at amortised cost and at fair value in the statement of financial position. The carrying values of current financial
instruments approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these instruments and the disclosures of fair value
are not made when the carrying amount of current financial instruments is a reasonable approximation of the fair value.

7D.

Credit risk on financial assets
Financial assets that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk and failures by counterparties to discharge their
obligations in full or in a timely manner consist principally of cash balances with banks, cash equivalents, and certain other
financial assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the total of the fair value of the financial assets at the end of the
reporting year. Credit risk on cash balances with banks and any other financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are entities with acceptable credit ratings. Credit risk on other financial assets is limited because the counter parties
are entities with acceptable credit ratings.
Note 5 discloses the maturity of the cash and cash equivalents balances. Cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of the standard on financial instruments. There was no identified impairment loss.
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7.

Financial instruments: information on financial risks (cont’d)

7E.

Liquidity risk – financial liabilities maturity analysis
The effect of liquidity risk is not significant to the Trustees.

7F.

Interest rate risk
The effect of interest rate risk is not significant to the Trustees.

7G.

Foreign currency risk
The effect of foreign currency risk is not significant to the Trustees.

7H.

Equity price risk
There are investments in equity shares or similar instruments. As a result, such investments are exposed to both currency
risk and market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of the investment securities. The fair values of these
equity shares and sensitivity analysis are disclosed in Note 4.

8.

Changes and adoption of financial reporting standards
For the current reporting year new or revised FRS were issued by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council. Those
applicable to the Trustees are listed below. These applicable new or revised standards did not require any significant
modification of the measurement methods or the presentation in the financial statements.
FRS No.

FRS 1 and 8
		

9.

Title
Definition of Material – Amendments
The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

New or amended standards in issue but not yet effective
For the future reporting years certain new or revised FRS were issued by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council and
these will only be effective for future reporting years. None of these are applicable to the Trustees based on the reporting
entity’s current operations.

FRS No.
Title
			

Effective date for periods
beginning on or after

FRS 1
		

1 January 2023
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